
  
    

 

 
    

   
   

     
 
 

     
 
 

                                    
       

 
                               

      
 

                                                 
        
 

                                                                      
       
 

                          
       
  

                                
      
 

                                        
        
 

                         
         
 

                           
         
 

                          
          
 

                           
         
 

                           
          
 

              
         
 

                 
        
  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
September 18, 2025, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 
The meeting can be viewed live at https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8FmIo 

Thursday, September 18, 2025 – 9:00 am 

1.  Approval of Agenda ACTION 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

2.  Approval of Minutes ACTION 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

3.  Old Business/Action Log CONTINGENT 
– Paula Richmond, Vice-Chairman 

4.  DWR Update INFORMATIONAL 
– Riley Peck, DWR Director 

5. Statewide Angler Survey Results INFORMATIONAL 
– Craig Walker, Asst. Chief of Fisheries 

6. Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results INFORMATIONAL 
– Trina Hedrick, Coldwater Sportfish Coordinator 

7. SER Big Game Management Plans ACTION 
– Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 

8. Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep ACTION 
– Rusty Robinson, Once-in-a-lifetime Species Coordinator 

9.  Conservation Permit Audit ACTION 
– Sarah Scott, Financial Manager 

10.  Conservation Permit Annual Report ACTION 
– Dax Mangus, Asst. Wildlife Section Chief 

11.  Expo Permit Audit ACTION 
– Kenny Johnson, Administrative Services Section Chief 

12.  Expo Permit Allocation ACTION 
– Dax Mangus, Asst. Wildlife Section Chief 

13.  2026 RAC/Board Meeting Dates ACTION 
– Staci Coons, Wildlife Board Coordinator 

14.  Other Business CONTINGENT 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this 
meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days notice. 

https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8FmIo


 

                                    
 

  
 

 
 
 

     
 

     
     

     

  
  

 
  

 
 

    
 

        
      

 

  
 

 
  

 
 

    
 

         
     

  
  

 
   

 
 

    
 

      
     

   

  
   

 
   

 

Draft 9/18/2025 

Wildlife Board Action Log 

Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response to date: 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – “Destination Water bodies” List 

MOTION: I move that we ask the Division to create a list of “Destination water bodies” throughout 
the state.  This list will determine which fishery management plans are presented statewide and which 
may be presented to only the local RAC.  This is to be placed on the action log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Randy Oplinger 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: September 21, 2023 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Spearfishing 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to study the possibilities of increased opportunities for 
spearfishing and to look at the impact spearfishing on fisheries in Utah may have.  This is to be placed on 
the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Trina Hedrick 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: September 19, 2024 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Use of Aerial Equipment 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into the use of aerial equipment for hunting and 
retrieval of game.  This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood 
Assigned to: Dax Mangus 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Sheep Hunts due to disease outbreak 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look at procedures of how to contact/notify hunters 
when a hunt is available due to a lone sheep/disease outbreak. This is to be added to the Action Log 
and the division is to report back to the board. 

Motion made by: Gary Nielson 
Assigned to: Rusty Robinson 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

1 



 

 
    

 
         

   
   

 

  
   

 
   

 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Private Landowner Vouchers/point loss and waiting periods 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into private landowner vouchers in relation to 
losing points and incurring waiting periods.  The proposal is to be brought to the board as an 
informational item prior to presenting it through the public process. (RACs).  This is to be placed on the 
Action Log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Lindy Varney 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

2 



 
  

 
     

 

    
 

   
   

     
  

     
  

     
   

    
    

     
       

   
   

    
   

   
   

    
  

  
       

   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         
          

              

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 S. Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah
The meeting will stream live at https://youtu.be/I7r95y9B6_o 

Thursday, August 21, 2025, 9:00 am 

1. Swearing in of new board members 
– Riley Peck, Director 

2. Approval of Agenda 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

3. Approval of Minutes 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

4. Old Business/Action Log 
– Paula Richmond, Vice-Chair 

5. DWR Update 
– Riley Peck, DWR Director 

6. Recommended Changes R657-42 & R657-57 Surrenders and Variances 
– Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing Coordinator 

7. Recommended changes R657-41 & R657-62 Sportsman Draw 
– Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing Coordinator 

8. Recommended changes R657-73 Tagging Requirements 
– Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing Coordinator 

9. CWMU Additional Cow Permits 
– Darren DeBloois, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Program Coordinator 

10. Additional Drought Permits – Bison – Henry Mountains 
– Rusty Robinson, Once-in-a-Lifetime Species Coordinator 

11. CWMY Advisory Committee Membership – Gary Webb 
– Darren DeBloois, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Program Coordinator 

9. Other Business 
– Gary Nielson, Chairman 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

CONTINGENT 

INFORMATIONAL 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

CONTINGENT 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act -
Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this 

meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days’ notice. 

https://youtu.be/I7r95y9B6_o


 
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
    

  
 

  
   

   

   
   

 
   

  
    

  
      

    

   
  

 
  

  
    

  
        

    

  
    

 
   

  
    

  
     

   
    

  
    

 
  

  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

Wildlife Board Action Log 

Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response 
to date: 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – “Destination Water bodies” List 

MOTION: I move that we ask the Division to create a list of “Destination water bodies” 
throughout the state.  This list will determine which fishery management plans are 
presented statewide and which may be presented to only the local RAC.  This is to be 
placed on the action log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Randy Oplinger 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: September 21, 2023 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Spearfishing 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to study the possibilities of increased 
opportunities for spearfishing and to look at the impact spearfishing on fisheries in Utah 
may have.  This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Trina Hedrick 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: September 19, 2024 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Use of Aerial Equipment 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into the use of aerial equipment for 
hunting and retrieval of game.  This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood 
Assigned to: Dax Mangus 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Sheep Hunts due to disease outbreak 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look at procedures of how to 
contact/notify hunters when a hunt is available due to a lone sheep/disease outbreak.  This 
is to be added to the Action Log and the division is to report back to the board. 

Motion made by: Gary Nielson 
Assigned to: Rusty Robinson 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

1 



 
  

 
 

      
  

       
  

  
    

   
 

 
  

  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

Fall 2025 – Target Date – Private Landowner Vouchers/point loss and waiting periods 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into private landowner vouchers in 
relation to losing points and incurring waiting periods.  The proposal is to be brought to 
the board as an informational item prior to presenting it through the public process. 
(RACs).  This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Kent Johnson 
Assigned to: Lindy Varney  
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 1, 2025 

2 



 
  

 
 

 

   
  

 
 

   
 

   
 

 
  

 
   

 
    

 
 

   
 

 
   

 
  

    
       

    
 

     
 

   
   

   
       
     

 
   

 
   

   
  

       
 

  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 S. Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 
Summary of Motions 

1) Approval of Agenda (Action) 

The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Paula Richmond and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda. 

2) Approval of Minutes (Action) 

The following motion was made by Bob Christensen, seconded by Justin Oliver and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the June 12, 2025 
Wildlife Board Meeting. 

3) R657-42 & R657-57 Surrenders and Variances (Action) 

The following motion was made by Justin Oliver, seconded by Kent Johnson and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the recommended changes to Rules 
R657-42 & R657-62 as presented by the Division. 

4) R657-41 & R657-62 Sportsman Draw and Group Applications (Action) 

The following motion was made by Bob Christensen, seconded by Chris Robinson and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the recommended changes to Rules 
R657-41 & R657-62 as presented by the Division. 

5) R657-73 Tagging Requirement Recommendations (Action) 

The following motion was made by Paula Richmond, seconded by Bob Christensen and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the tagging requirement 
recommendations as presented by the Division, with the addition of a fourth 
photo for evidence of sex. 

3 



 
  

 
 

 
      

 
   

   
 

     
  

   
 

         
 

    
 

 
     

    
 

       
 

    
 

 
     

   
 

     
 

 
  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

6) CWMU – Additional Cow Permits (Action) 

The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Paula Richmond and passed, 
with 4 in favor and 2 recusals (Ryan Foutz and Chris Robinson). 

MOTION: I move that we approve the additional CWMU cow permits as 
presented by the Division, and allow the Division to work within the rule to 
make adjustments/additions as necessary. 

7) Additional Drought Permits – Bison – Henry Mountains (Action) 

The following motion was made by Chris Robinson, seconded by Justin Oliver and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the additional 19 bison permits on the 
Henry Mountains as presented by the Division. 

8) CWMU Advisory Committee Membership – Gary Webb (Action) 

The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Chris Robinson and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the membership of Gary Webb on the 
CWMU Advisory Committee as presented by the Division. 

9) Other Business (Contingent) 

4 



 
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
   

       
      

       
     
    
    

 
    

    
    

    
    
    

    
    

    
    
    
    

 
     

     
      

    
    
    
  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 S Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 
Attendance 

Wildlife Board RAC Chairs 
Gary Nielson – Chair Bob Christensen Central – Braden Sheppard 
Paula Richmond – Vice-Chair Ryan Foutz (online) Southern – Austin Atkinson 
Riley Peck – Exec Secretary Chris Robinson Southeastern – Scoot Flannery 

Kent Johnson Northeastern – Eric Major 
Justin Oliver Northern – Brad Buchanan 

Division Personnel 
Justin Shannon Paul Gedge 
Mike Canning Mike Christensen 
Kenny Johnson Staci Coons 
Lindy Varney Paige Wiren 
Covy Jones Rusty Robinson 
Chris Wood Jim Christensen 
Mark Martinez Chad Bettridge 

Kevin Norman 
Kent Strong 

Phil Gray Darren DeBloois 
Danny Summers 

Public Present 
Troy Justensen  Tanner Carlson 
Angie Wonnacott Chris Carling 

5 



 
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

    
 

     
  

    

     
   

 

   

   
   

 
   

 

 
 

    
    

   
    

   
  

   

    
   

    
   

  
  

 
 

     
    

Director Riley Peck performed the swearing in, and then Board members and RAC 
chairs introduced themselves. 

00:06:54 2) Approval of Agenda (Action) 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Paula Richmond and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda. 

00:07:15 3)  Approval of Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Bob Christensen, seconded by Justin Oliver and 
passed unanimously. 
MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the June 12, 2025 
Wildlife Board Meeting. 

00:08:34 4) Old Business/Action Log (Contingent) 
Vice-Chair Richmond noted the Action Log items that are due in the fall of 2025. 

00:10:09 5)  DWR Update (Informational) 
Director Peck shared visual information on current Monroe Canyon Fire impacts, 
data from deer collared in that area, and shared how habitat projects on the 
mountains proved beneficial to fire containment. 
Chairman Nielson pointed out the opportunity to make a public comment during the 
meeting. 

00:16:00 6)  Recommended Changes R657-42 & R657-57 Surrenders and Variances (Action) 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 S Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 
https://youtube.com/watch?v=ycDc9mbAbLc&t=6237s 

00:00:01 Chairman Nielson called the meeting to order, welcomed the audience, and reviewed the 
meeting procedures. 

00:01:52 1) Swearing in of New Board Members (Action) 

Licensing Coordinator Lindy Varney summarized the recommended changes. 

00:19:41 Board/RAC Questions 
The Board asked what the process is to apply for a medical variance, and asked if 
what the division was recommending applies to cow elk tags. 
The Board voiced support for the recommended changes. 

00:22:32 Public Electronic Comments 
Director Peck summarized the public comments received online. 

6 

https://youtube.com/watch?v


 
  

 
 

   
  

    
  

  
 

      
   

   
   

    

  
  

  
      

      

    
 

    
  

    
    

    
    

  

    

 

    
 

  
   

00:22:51 RAC Recommendations 
All RACs passed the rule changes with one change from the Northern RAC. 

00:23:46 Public Comments/Division Clarification 
There were no public comments submitted on this agenda item. 

00:23:53 RAC Summaries 
Chairman Nielson summarized the RAC recommendations, and the Board asked the 
Northern RAC Chair to explain his region’s vote. 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

The RAC then asked if there might be extenuating circumstances regarding the 
proposed variance submission time frame that the division would take into 
consideration. 

00:26:17 Board Discussion 
The Board noted that, having attended the Northern Region RAC where they 
discussed the variance applications submission time frame, that their 60 day 
suggested made logical sense. 
The following motion was made by Justin Oliver, seconded by Kent Johnson and 
passed unanimously. 
MOTION: I move that we approve the recommended changes to Rules 
R657-42 & R657-57 as presented by the Division. 

00:28:34 7)  Recommended Changes R657-41 & R657-62 (Action) 
Licensing Coordinator Lindy Varney summarized the recommended changes. 

00:32:04 Board/RAC Questions 
There were no questions from the Board or RACs. 

00:32:18 Public Electronic Comments 
Director Peck summarized the public comments received online. 

00:32:57 RAC Recommendations 
All RACs passed the motion to accept the changes as presented, with one recusal on 
Southern RAC. 

00:34:51 Public Comments/Division Clarification 

There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

00:35:55 Board Discussion 
The Board asked for clarification on the RAC member’s need to recuse himself from 
voting on this agenda item, and commended the division for recommending these 
rule changes. 

7 



 
  

 
 

   
 

      
     

     
 

    
 

   
 

 
   

  
 

 
   

 
 

 
   

 
   

    

    

    
  

  
   

   

    
   

    
   

 

animal either electronically or physically, and that a photo of the harvested animal 
could be used to verify the animal’s sex. 
The Board brought up the public’s concern that submitted photos may be requested 
under GRAMA law, and asked how privileged information submitted to the division 
is. The Board also asked where the tag does need to remain if it would no longer be 
required for it to remain with the largest portion of the meat. 
The Board asked if, at some point in the future, the division was planning on 
requiring hunters to specify whether they would e-tag or physically tag their 
harvested animal, and if language could be added to rule to state that e-tag data 
could not be used to locate, track, take or retrieve game. 
Chairman Nielson voiced support for allowing hunters to choose either 
electronically or physically tagging their harvested animal. 
The RAC asked for clarification on the content of the three required photo 
submissions, and asked if submitted photos of an animal’s head could be proof of 
sex by showing whether the animal was antlered or not. The RAC also asked if 
entered e-tag data could be added to at a later date, and about the physical capability 
of a lone hunter to photograph sex verification on large game animals. 

00:58:55 Public Electronic Comments 

Director Peck summarized the public comments received online. 

00:59:37 RAC Recommendations 
All RACs passed the recommended changes with one stipulation from the 
Southeastern RAC. The Southeastern RAC Chair added that the motion voted on in 
their region passed unanimously. 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

The following motion was made by Bob Christensen, seconded by Chris Robinson 
and passed unanimously. 
MOTION: I move that we approve the recommended changes to Rules 
R657-41 & R657-62 as presented by the Division. 

00:39:23 8) Recommended Changes R657-73 Tagging Requirements (Action) 
Licensing Coordinator Lindy Varney summarized the recommended changes. 

00:42:49 Board/RAC Questions 
The Board verified that the division was proposing that hunters could tag their 

Chairman Nielson then summarized the RAC motions. 

01:02:52 Public Comments/Division Clarification 
There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

01:02:57 Board Discussion 
The Board asked if the division anticipates investigating the harvest of an animal if 
the submitted e-tag location data indicated that the harvest was illegal given the 
location, and/or reviewing e-tag location data to verify that the animal was harvested 

8 



 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

   
 

  
 

  
   

  
 

   
 

        
 

    

      
 

   
  

  
  

  
 

     
  

  
 

  
 

 
    

 
  

 
 

  

  

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

in the proper location, and voiced support for the obligatory internal reporting to law 
enforcement submitted protected data outlier noticed by a division employee.  
The Board asked if not using collected and protected e-tag location data could be 
added to Rule R657-5-7, which prohibits the use of using protected radio collar data 
to tract, take or retrieve—or attempt to track, take or retrieve—big game animals or 
their parts. 
The Board recognized that public feedback on this agenda item indicated the 
public’s concern for privacy, and that outreach efforts that explain the protection of 
that data may help hunters more quickly adopt e-tagging. 
The Board asked how many states use e-tagging, and if any of the western states that 
require e-tag photo submissions have reported any unintended consequences that 
have arisen regarding photo location data. 
The Board voiced support for the proof of sex process in the recommended changes. 

The following motion was made by Paula Richmond, seconded by Bob Christensen 
and passed unanimously. 
MOTION: I move that we approve the tagging requirement 
recommendations as presented by the Division, with the addition of a fourth 
photo for evidence of sex. 

01:14:20 9) CWMU – Additional Cow Permits (Action) 
Private Lands/Public Wildlife Program Coordinator Darren DeBloois gave a 
presentation titled “Requesting Additional CWMU Permits for 2025.”  This agenda 
item did not go through the RAC process. 

01:20:07 Board Questions/Discussion 
The Board asked who would be first to be given the opportunity to purchase a 
second permit, how many hunters last year took advantage of purchasing an 
additional tag, and of those who purchased, how many hunters harvested. The Board 
asked if and how hunters would be notified of the opportunity, and who would be 
responsible for notifying them? 
The Board noted that the price of a permit doubles on September 1. Chris Robinson 
disclosed that he owns a CWMU and thinks that there is not an overabundance of 
elk on his ranch property, questioned why an individual would want to harvest two 
cow elk, and asked if increasing cow permit numbers on public hunting land could 
be used as a strategy for reducing the overabundance of elk. Mr. Robinson then 
stated that he would recuse himself from voting. 
The Board asked if the first cow permit holder could buy the second permit for her 
husband. 
Ryan Foutz disclosed that he also is a CWMU operator, advocated for the division 
offering flexibility regarding whom a second permit could go to, and stated that he 
would recuse himself from voting.  
The Board suggested that a second permit could go to a mentee, shared that the 
CWMU Advisory Committee worked hard at coming up with a compromise, and 
reiterated that the point of offering a second opportunity was to meet the population 

9 



 
  

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

 
  

   
 

   
   

  
     

  
     

  
  

   
 

  

    
  

 
    

  
   

 
  

   

    
  

    

  
  

   
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

objective. 
The RAC asked how many cow elk were harvested on two particular units, and 
floated the idea of allowing other members of a permit holder’s party to be given the 
second tag opportunity. 
The Board asked how accurate harvest data from harvest reporting is, and if permit 
fees could increase on a date later than September 1. 
The Board thanked the division for addressing the over-objective situation, and 
asked if this strategy would fix the issue. 
The Board commented that CWMU operators support the hunter mentorship 
program, and voiced the need to make sure both permit holders and CWMU 
operators are aware of this opportunity. 
The Board voiced support for the request. 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Paula Richmond, 
and passed 4 in favor and 2 recusals. Ryan Foutz and Chris Robinson recused 
themselves from voting. 
MOTION: I move that we accept approve the additional CWMU cow 
permits as presented by the Division, and allow the Division to work within the 
rule to make adjustments as necessary. 

01:53:51 10)  Additional Drought Permits (Action) 
Once-in-a-Lifetime Species Coordinator Rusty Robinson gave a presentation titled 
“Henry Mountains Bison Drought Permit Recommendations.” 

01:58:31 Board Questions/Discussion 
Chairman Nielson commented that increasing tags is a good demonstrative gesture 
towards ranchers whose livestock graze the same territory. 
The Board asked what a hunter’s choice hunt is, if there is anything that can be done 
to increase success rates, and if the bison are using the habitat differently in relation 
to the drought conditions. 
Division biologist Wade Paskett shared observations from the bison survey that was 
conducted at the beginning of August. 
The Board asked for clarification on what a hunter’s choice hunt is. 

02:05:25 Public Comments/Division Clarification 
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

02:05:58 Board Questions & Discussion 
The Board sked how the division would contact people with offers of purchasing 
one of the additional permits. 

The following motion was made by Chris Robinson, seconded by Justin Oliver and 
passed unanimously. 

10 



 
  

 
 

     
   

        
 
         
         

   
    

     
   

     
 

     
   

  
   

  
 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
August 21, 2025 

MOTION: I move that we approve the additional 19 bison permits on the 
Henry Mountains as presented by the Division. 

02:08:45 11) CWMU Advisory Committee Membership – Gary Webb (Action) 

Private Lands/Public Wildlife Program Coordinator Darren DeBloois requested that 
Gary Webb be added to the CWMU Advisory Committee. 

The Board voice support for the candidate. 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson seconded by Chris Robinson, and 
MOTION: I move that we approve the membership of Gary Webb on 
the CWMU Advisory Committee as presented by the Division. 

02:11:14 12) Other Business (Contingent) 
Chairman Nielson commented on the seeming prevalence of antlerless buck deer in 
the Juab County area, asked if the division would consider addressing this biological 
phenomenon, and if that should be put on the Action Log. 
The Board asked if that biological phenomenon could be skewing buck-to-doe 
counts. 

02:17:19 Meeting adjourned. 

11 



 
  

 
 
 

                                                
 

  
    

  
    

  
  
 

     
  
  
 
                
                                                                                             

    
 
                 

 
 

                                                                                               
 

 
 

 

 

 
   

                 

Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

1)  Mid-Plan Review-Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep (Action) 

CR, NR, SER, NER: 
MOTION: I move we approve Mid-Plan Review- Mountain Goat and Bighorn 
sheep as presented. 
VOTE: Passed Unanimously 

SR: MOTION: I move that we accept the Division’s plan as presented but remove the 
Boulder Mountains as a potential reintroduction site. 
VOTE: Passed 5-3 

2) SER Big Game Management Plans (Action) 

All Regions: 

MOTION: I move we approve SER Big Game Management Plans as presented. 

VOTE: Passed Unanimously 



 
  

 

 
 

 
   

  

               
  

        
  

            
  

       
    

           
  

             
  

                            
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

RAC 
AGENDA 

August 
2025 

1. Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
- RAC Chair 

2. Approval of Agenda and Minutes 
- RAC Chair 

3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update 
- RAC Chair 

4. Regional Update 
- DWR Regional Supervisor 

5. Statewide Angler Survey Results 
- Craig Walker, Asst. Chief of Fisheries ABSENT 

6. Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results 
- Trina Hedrick, Coldwater Sportfish Coordinator 

7. Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 

ACTION 

INFORMATIONAL 

INFORMATIONAL 

INFORMATIONAL 

INFORMATIONAL 

ACTION 
- Rusty Robinson, Once-in-a-Lifetime Species Coordinator 

8. SER Big Game Management Plans ACTION 
- Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 



 
  

 
 

 
 

 
     

 
 

 
 

   
 

   
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

    
 

 
 

    

    

  
 

                       

    

  
 

   

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

August 26, 2025 
Springville, Utah 

1) Approval of minutes from  July 29, 2025 CR RAC meeting 

The following motion was made by Kellen Hyer, seconded by Braden Sheppard. 
Passed unanimously. 

MOTION:  To approve the past minutes as presented. 

2) Approval of August 26, 2025 CR RAC Meeting Agenda. 

The following motion was made by Kellen Hyer, seconded by Braden Sheppard. 
Passed unanimously. 

MOTION:  To approve the agenda of the August 26, 2025 Central 
Region RAC meeting as transcribed. 

3) Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 

The following motion was made by Scott Jensen, seconded by Bryce Castagnetto. 
Passed unanimously. 

MOTION: To accept the plan as presented. 

4) SER Big Game Management Plans 

The following motion was made by Tyson Skeen and seconded by Bryce Castagnetto. 
Passed unanimously. 

MOTION: To accept the plan as presented. 

5) SER Big Game Management Plans 

The following motion was made by Tyson Skeen and seconded by Scott Jensen. 
Passed unanimously. 

MOTION: To request the Wildlife Board make an action log item on 
educating the RAC/Public on how the Mule Deer model operates. 



 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
      
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

  

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

Central Region RAC Meeting
Attendance 

August 26, 2025 
Springville, Utah 

RAC Members 

Attending
Kellen Hyer 
Eric Reid 
Scott Jensen 
Jared Peterson 
Brock McMillan 
Braden Sheppard 
Bryce Castagnetto 
Drew Eline 
Tyson Skeen 
Joshua Kays 
John Ziegler (online) 
Jim Shuler (online) 

Wildlife Board 
Gary Nielson 
Paula Richmond (online) 
Kent Johnson (online) 
Christopher Robinson (online) 

DWR Personnel 
Michael Packer 
Matt Briggs 
Wes Alexander 
Chris Crockett 
Rusty Robinson 
Tristan Doyle 
Bailee Prestwich 
Chris Rhea 
Dustin Mitchell 
Trina Hedrick (online) 

Total members of the public in attendance: 2 



 
  

 
  

 
 

   
  

    
 

   
 

 
     

   
   

 
    
    
    
  

    
 

  
   
   
     

  
    
   

   
  

   
  

  
  

  
       

 
 

  
    

  
  

   
     

 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

Central Region RAC Meeting
August 26, 2025

Springville, Utah 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=quAMrparfew 

06:03:11 RAC Chair Brock McMillan called the meeting to order. He called the roll of RAC 
members and indicated which UDWR personnel were present on the broadcast. He 
explained the process that there will be no live presentations and public comments will 
be taken during the meeting. 

06:04:56 1)  Approval of Agenda & Past Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Kellen Hyer, seconded by Braden Sheppard 
and passed unanimously 
MOTION: To approve the agenda as presented. 

06:06:10 2)  DWR Regional Update (Informational) 
Danny Summers updated the RAC on all regional activities. 

Wildlife Section 
- Archery hunts opened on Aug 16th. 
- Completed pronghorn and elk preseason classification. 
- Completed chukar population monitoring. 
- Wildlife Conservation is working on species status assessment for the 2025 

Utah Wildlife Action Plan and revamping the field guide. 
Aquatics Section 

- Fall Stream Monitoring(ongoing): 
- Sportfish and sensitive species. 
- Electrofishing 2 pass population estimates. 
- Diamond Fork, Nebo Creek, Battle Creek, Grove Creek, etc. 

- Access/Habitat Planning 
- Coordination with ULA on Utah Lake Access Plan. 
- Recent meetings with Sanpete County, Forest Service, to improve Lake 

Hill Reservoir (Community Lake). 
- Lower Diamond Fork Restoration Planning with URMSS 

(implementation planned for fall 2026) 
- Misc 

- Low water and emergency regulations at Nine Mile and Vernon 
Reservoirs (optimistic they will have adequate habitat to oversummer 
fish but giving anglers harvest opportunity). 

- Motor Boat Access funding delays-some projects may be moved to next 
year. 

Habitat Section 
- Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership national board of directors field 

tour through Wasatch County and Strawberry Reservoir. 
- Finished 2 guzzlers on Dry Mountain with Utah Wild Sheep Foundation and 

Dallas Safari Club. 
- Working with USFS to finalize the Manti-La Sal Forest Management Plan. 
- Wrapping up noxious weed treatments on WMAS. 

Outreach Section 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=quAMrparfew


 
  

  
    

   
    

      
     

    
    

   
  

   
  

    
     

     
    

    
   

  
    

   

  
   

 

 
 

    
 

  
  

  

   
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

    
  

    

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

- Upland Game Hunting Seminar with wildlife biologist Jason Robinson at the 
DWR Central Region Office, Aug 28 @ 6:30 PM. 

- State Fair DWR building fishing pond shifts 9/5-9/7 and 9/12-9/14 - need 
volunteers to help kids fish. Dedicated hunter projects posted online. 

- Underwater kokanee salmon livestream on DWR YouTube - 9/14-9/20. 
- Kokanee Salmon Viewing event at Strawberry Reservoir Visitor Center. 

Saturday, Sep 20 from 9am - 3pm. 
- New Kokanee salmon Utah Wildlife Walls mural at the Strawberry Reservoir 

Visitors Center for the event. (Chris Peterson) 
Law Enforcement 

- Several offices were able to attend the NAWEOA conference that was held in 
Pennsylvania. 

- Officer Anderson responded to a call about an individual that got bit by a 
coyote. Turns out family members were driving towards Wendover and picked 
up the coyote, brought it home, gave it a bath and put a collar on it. Should 
have just left it alone. 

- It has been a very busy fire season with all the officers working shifts assisting 
the Sheriffs office and Forest Service with road closures around the fire 
locations. 

- Hunting season is here! Archery hunts have started off slow. A few violations 
and cases are being found. 

06:12:13 3) Update on the past board meeting (Informational) 
Brock McMillan provided a brief update on the past board meeting held on August 21, 
2025. 

06:15:48 4) Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 
Rusty Robinson presented to the board. 

06:17:36 RAC Questions 
RAC members asked why the WAFWA plan was mentioned in this review and if there 
was something in particular they were adjusting there. 

06:18:50 Public Comments 
Danny Summers summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 
Public Comments 

- None. 

06:19:24 RAC Discussion 
The RAC asked for Rusty to address the public online comments surrounding the 
dissatisfaction with the Mountain Goat population on the Ogden unit. The RAC 
discussed whether the  Fremont Island unit could potentially become a hunting unit or if 
it would simply be utilized as a nursery unit. RAC members also brought up concerns 
surrounding the connectivity of surrounding unit herds with the Boulder. How the plan 
will work through issues where populations are mixing. 



 
  

  
     

  
     
  

  

      
  

   
 

    

  
  

 
      

 

  
 

 
   

     
   

    
    

     
   

     
   

 
 

   
  

  
  

 
   

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

06:22:04 Public Questions 
- Wade Garrett - Utah Farm Bureau - Grateful for working with the DWR on this 

plan. Neighboring states do not have the same types of relationships between 
the DWR and Department of AG. We would like to express support for this plan 
and also urge the public to involve themselves in the DWR’s event at the Utah 
state Fair. 

06:23:43 Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 
MOTION 

The following motion was made by Scott Jensen and seconded by Bryce Castagnetto. 
Motion passes unanimously. 

MOTION: To accept the plan as presented. 

06:24:17 5) SER Big Game Management Plans 

Dustin Mitchell presented to the board. 

06:24:54 RAC Questions 
The RAC asked why the DWR would propose raising the populations on the La Sal 
units where CWD is so prevalent.  The RAC also  questions the historic trend data of 
populations on this same unit and what kind of high/lows the DWR’s data was finding. 
The RAC asked for Devin to clarify how this data is collected - helicopter counts or 
simply just model numbers. The RAC asked logistically how the harvest objectives 
would be influenced if the state does not harvest any does on the unit. The RAC asked 
if this new model would be utilized state wide and how some of the changes in trends 
will show up in other regions. The RAC asked for the modeling to be explained in as 
simple terms as possible for the public and members to understand. The RAC clarified 
that this new model will help adjust where the DWR believes populations are sitting at, 
however the plan will not affect the management portion of this plan. The RAC also 
brought up the opportunity for the DWR to use E-Tagging data as an addition to the 
model for population trends. 

06:38:53 Public Questions 
- None. 

06:39:08 Public Comments 
Danny Summers summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 
Public Comments 

- None. 



 
  

 
 
 

 
  

   
   

      

   
 

  
 

    

   
 

  
 

   
  

    
        

 

  
   

     
  

     

  
 

         

     
  

   
 

     

  

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

06:39:46 RAC Discussion 
- The RAC discussed their support of the management plan and the potential to 

have more deer on the landscape. The RAC encouraged its fellows members 
as well as the public to educate themselves as much as possible on the new 
model and how it will collect mule deer data moving forward. 

06:42:16 SER Big Game Management Plans 
MOTION 

The following motion was made by Tyson Skeen and seconded by Bryce Castagnetto. 
This motion passes unanimously. 

MOTION: To accept the plan as presented. 

06:55:30 SER Big Game Management Plans 
MOTION 

The following motion was made by Tyson Skeen and seconded by Scott Jensen. This 
motion passes unanimously. 

MOTION: To request the Wildlife Board make an action log item on educating the 
RAC/public on how the Mule Deer model operates. 

06:42:53 6) Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results 
Trina Hedrick presented to the board. 

06:43:20 RAC Questions 
The RAC asked questions on the economical effect that fishing has on the state of 
Utah as well as what other kinds of angler data this survey collected. The RAC asked 
how the Division will use this data to make decisions for anglers in the future. The RAC 
asked what kinds of biological data influences decisions as well. 

06:51:07 RAC Discussion 
The RAC expressed their gratitude to the Division for working hard to collect this data 
so they may better serve anglers across Utah. 

06:53:22 Public Questions 
- Kent Strong Sportsman for Fish and Wildlife - Some of the stuff Trina has said 

about people thinking certain species should be in waterbodies where they do 
not belong. Our organization is offering a $5K reward to anyone with 
information about the illegal introduction of Walleye in Strawberry Reservoir. 
This type of backyard biologist behavior needs to stop. 

06:54:36 Public Comments 



 
  

  
 

   

    

 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
August 26, 2025 

Danny Summers summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 
Public Comments 

- None. 

07:02:47 The meeting adjourned. 



 

 

 
 

            
 
 

    
  

  
 

                                                               
                
 

                                                                
   
 

                                 
 

 
                                                                                       

            
 

                                                                                       
                       
 

                                                                     
               
 

                                                                    
             
 
                           
            
 
 

 
 

 
                                      

                                              
                                                       

                                             
                          

                                   
                                                

                                                    
                                             

 
 

                                   
                                                                     

                                                                         
                                            

 
 
 

RAC AGENDA 
August 27, 2025 

The meeting will stream live at https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8 

1. Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
- RAC Chair 

2. Approval of Agenda and Minutes ACTION 
- RAC Chair   

3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update INFORMATIONAL 
- RAC Chair 

4. Regional Update INFORMATIONAL 
- DWR Regional Supervisor 

5. Statewide Angler Surveys INFORMATIONAL 
- Craig Walker, Asst. Chief of Fisheries 

6.  Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results INFORMATIONAL 
-Trina Hedrick, Coldwater Sportfish Coordinator 

7. Mid Plan Review- Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep ACTION 
- Rusty Robinson, Once-In-A-Lifetime Coordinator 

8. SER Big Game Management Plans ACTION 
- Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 

CR RAC – August 26, 6:00 PM SER RAC – September 3rd , 6:00 PM 
Wildlife Resources Conference Room John Wesley Powell Museum 
1115 N. Main Street, Springville 1765 E. Main St., Green River 
https://youtube.com/live/quAMrparfew https://youtube.com/live/WjQ4Rx7M0N4 

NR RAC – August 27th, 6:00 PM NER RAC- September 4th , 6:00 PM 
Weber County Commission Chambers Wildlife Resources Conference Room 
2380 Washington Blvd.#240, Ogden 318 N. Vernal Ave, Vernal 
https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8 https://youtube.com/live/ 2m6WXSelFBk 

SR RAC – September 2nd , 6:00 PM Board Meeting- Septemeber 18th, 9:00 AM 
DNR Richfield City Complex Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
646 N. Main St, Cedar City 1157 S. Waterfowl Way, Farmington 
https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8Fmlo 

1 

https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8
https://youtube.com/live/quAMrparfew
https://youtube.com/live/WjQ4Rx7M0N4
https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8cF_n0
https://youtube.com/live/gnzo2Je_3pU
https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE
https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8Fmlo


 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

    
 

    
 

 
                                                                             
                                                 
 

    
    

    

 
 

    
 

  
                    
                       

                                                                          
    

 
    

    
 

                                                                                               
 

 
 

 

 

 
   

                 

Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

1) Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 

The following motion was made by Ross Worthington, seconded by Ryan Brown and passed 
unanimous. 

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Agenda and Minutes. 

2) Mid-Plan Review-Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep (Action) 

The following motion was made Wyatt Selman, seconded by Hunter Stallings and passed 

unanimous. 

MOTION: I move we approve Mid-Plan Review-Mountain Goat and Bighorn 
Sheep as presented. 

3) SER Big Game Management Plans (Action) 

The following motion was made by Robert Dale, seconded by Wyatt Selman and passed 
unanimous. 

MOTION: I move we approve SER Big Game Management Plans as presented. 

2 



 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 

                                                       
     
   

 
 
 

  
 

  
 

 
        
                                

  
 
  
                  

        
        
                   
                                                           
                                                           
                                                           
                                                           
                                                           
                                                                                                        
 

   
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

                 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

              
 
 
 
 
 

  

    
    
    

Northern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
August 27, 2025 

Attendance 

RAC Members 
Brad Buchanan - Chair James Carlson Hunter Stallings 
Blair Stringham - Exec Sec 
Ryan Brown-Vice Chair 

Avery Cook 
Robert Dale 

Jessica Wade- Online 
Ross Worthington 

Garrett Larsen 
Wyatt Selman 

Brandon Zundel- Online 

Board Member 
Kent Johnson 
Gary Nielsen 
Justin Oliver 
Paul Richman 

RAC Excused 
Jaimi Butler 
Darren Parry 
Casey Snider 
Steve Sorensen 

Division Personnel 
Jodie Anderson David Beveridge 
Rusty Robinson 
Dustin Mitchell 
Trina Hedrick 
Chris Penne 
Kent Hersey 
Jim Christensen 

3 



 

 
 

    
                                  

                               
                            
 

 

        
 

 
 

    
    

  
 

             
                                                                                     
 

 
 

      

 
 

      
             

     

     
  

 

 
  

 

     

 
  

 
 

 

Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
August 27, 2025 

1) Chairman Brad Buchanan called the meeting to order, welcomed the audience and 00:04:45 reviewed the meeting procedures. 

00:09:04 2)  Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Ross Worthington, seconded by Ryan Brown 
and passed unanimous. 

MOTION:  I move that we approve the Agenda and Minutes. 

00:10:02 3) Update from past Wildlife Board Meeting by Brad Buchanan 

Link on website to view. 

00:12:04 4)  Regional Update - Blair Stringham (Informational) 
Blair Stringham updated the RAC on regional activities. 

00:17:24 5)  Statewide Angler Survey Results (Informational) 
Presentations could be viewed at https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

Trina Hedrick summarized the presentation for the RAC. 

00:18:11 Questions from RAC Members/Public 

None 

4 

about:blank
about:blank


 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 

     
   

 

  

   
  

   
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

  

 
 

  

  

                                     
  

 
 

  

Public Questions 
None 

00:18:21 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Blair Stringham, Regional Supervisor 

No Comments. 

00:18:27 6)  Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results (Informational) 
Presentations could be viewed at https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

00:18:36 Questions from RAC Members/Public 
Want to make the public aware, but not too aware of some of the Blue Ribbon fisheries 
so they’re not overrun by anglers.  Total number of Blue Ribbon fisheries in the state. 
Financial impact in correlation with the bump in license sales in 2020. Changes in 
management strategies and how soon the RACs will start seeing those proposals come 
through. 

Public Questions 

None 

00:24:57 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Blair Stringham, Regional Supervisor 

None 

00:25:29 7) Mid-Plan Review- Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep (Action) 
Presentations could be viewed at https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

Rusty Robinson summarized the presentation for the RAC. 

5 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-%20minutes.html
https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-%20minutes.html
about:blank
about:blank


 

 
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

 
 

 
     

     
  

  
   

 

    
 

     
     

 
  

  
 

    
   

 
      

 

 

     

00:26:25 Questions from RAC Members/Public 

None 

Public Questions 

None 

00:26:50 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Blair Stringham, Regional Supervisor 
Blair Stringham summarized the public comments received from the online 
presentation. 

Public Comment 
Sierra Nelson- Utah Wool Growers Association- Grateful to be part of the process. It’s 
been amazing to see such an important shift over the last seven years. The plan is 
written well. We appreciate the division standing behind agriculture. Allowing us to 
have the COR and saying they’re not going to grow bighorns at the expense of domestic 
sheep. We support it and ask the RAC to support it. 

00:28:42 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 
Wool growers are very appreciative of the division. Utah leads the way especially with 
bighorns and the relationship it has with ag and taking a stance. The division realizes 
there is room for both bighorns and livestock on the landscape. It feels good knowing 
the division has the backs of the sheep producers from the standpoint of the producers. 
Good progress made across the state with introductions of bighorns to certain areas and 
working with producers to find a balance between bighorns and livestock. 

The following motion was made by Wyatt Selman, seconded by Hunter Stallings 
and passed unanimous. 

MOTION: I move we approve Mid-Plan Review- Mountain Goat and Bighorn 
Sheep as presented. 

00:31:12 8) SER Big Game Management Plans (Action) 

6 



 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

   
   

   
       

     

 
 

 
 

 

    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

    
    

     
  

  
  

    

 
    

 
 

      

Increase in the objective numbers. Disease concerns on the La Sals, and raising the 
objective, seems a little counterintuitive. How are we managing this? How are we 
managing the first year of the hunts? Changes in the modeling data. Input data is getting 
better. Using unit specific data, instead of statewide generic data for model input. 

Public Questions 

None 

00:36:56 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Blair Stringham, Regional Supervisor 

None 

Public Comment 

None 

00:37:07 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 
Biologically, the division can raise the objective. Public misperception with increasing 
deer permits objective. CWD hunt and how it is managed. Mandatory testing. If an 
animal tests positive for CWD, the hunter is not issued a new tag. Increase in population 
estimate and if tags are being adjusted. Age class CWD is showing up in deer. 

Presentations could be viewed at https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

Dustin Mitchell had nothing more to add to the presentation. 

00:31:30 Questions from RAC Members 

Appreciate the work the division is doing. Appreciate how proactive the division is 
being with CWD. Population objectives and strategies being used. 

The following motion was made by Robert Dale, seconded by Wyatt Selman and passed 
unanimous. 

MOTION: I move we accept SER Big Game Management Plans as presented. 

7 

about:blank
about:blank


 

 
 

 
 

   

  

  
 

00:47:18 MOTION to Adjourn, Ross Worthington 

8 



 

   

 

 

 

 

          

         
          
         
          
    
    
   
    
    
   
           

 

                   

                   

 

 

       
        
      
      
        
 
         
   

  

 

 

 

Southern Regional RAC Meeting 

September 02, 2025 6:00 PM 

DNR Richfield City Complex 

2031 Industrial Park Rd, Richfield, UT 

RAC Members 

Attending Absent 

Bryant Johnson Austin Atkinson 
Gary Barney Chris Cannon 
Trevor Barnson Chuck Chamberlain 
Rachel Bolus Travis Duran 
Russell Gardner 
Mike Grant (Online) 
Brooklyn Cox (Online) 
Bart Battista (Online) 
Chad Utley (Online) 

Wildlife Board 

Paula Richmond 

Gary Nielson 

DWR Personnel 

Kevin Bunnell Adam Kavalunas 
Mike Wardle Morgan Hinton 
Denise Gilgen (Online) Craig Walker (Online) 
Trina Hedrick (Online) Paul Washburn 
Dustin Mitchell Mike Christensen 

Public invited to join online: https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE 

https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE


 

  

 

  
   

 
 

   
   

   
   

   
     

  
  

 
    
   

  
                                                               

 
   

 
 

   
 

 
                                                             

   
 

    
   

 
  
    

  
   

   
 

   
  

                                                                           
 

Southern Region RAC Meeting 

September 02, 2025 

Richfield, Utah 

06:00:04 1) Acting Chairman Bryant Johnson called the meeting to order. Called roll 
of RAC members. Outlined the agenda for tonight’s meeting: 

• Explained the RAC process and noted there will be no live 
presentations during the meeting. 

• The Wildlife Board, not the RAC, is charged with setting wildlife policy 
for the State. 

• Encouraged those who want to express their opinions at tonight’s 
meeting to submit a comment card. 

• Reminded everyone to be respectful of others, especially of those who 
have ideas and opinions that may differ from their own. 

• Recognized Wildlife Board members in attendance and online. 
• Welcomed public in attendance and those watching and listening 

online. 
• Asked that cell phones be placed on silent. 
• Microphones and cameras are in the room and pick up sound. Side 

conversations will most likely be heard on YouTube. 
06:04:51 2) Approval Of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 

The following motion was made by Trevor Barnson, seconded by Russell 
Gardner. 

MOTION: I move that we approved the Agenda and Minutes as presented. 

Passed unanimously. 
06:05:44 3) Wildlife Board Meeting (Informational) 

Acting Chairman Bryant Johnson: Reviewed Wildlife Board Meeting action 
items.  

• Surrenders and Variances rule changes passed unanimously. 
• Sportsman draw and group applications changes motion passed 

unanimously. 
• Electronic tagging proposal passed unanimously. 
• Additional Cow Elk permits on CWMU’s passed four (4) in favor, two 

(2) recusals (Ryan Foutz and Chris Robinson) 
• Additional 19 Bison permits approved for the Henry Mountains, due to 

the current drought, passed unanimously. 
• CWMU advisory committee membership of Gary Webb, passed 

unanimously. 

06:08:29 4) DWR Update (Informational) 



    
 

 
   

 
 

    

   
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
   

   

 
 

  
  

 
    

 
    

    
 

 
 

  
 

  

    
       

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
   

- Kevin Bunnell, DWR Regional Supervisor updated the RAC on all regional 
activities. 

• Wildlife Section: Held three Mule Deer meetings:  Cedar City, 
Richfield and Ruby’s Inn.  Gathered input from interested parties.  
Notes and survey results emailed to the group.  Meetings will continue 
throughout the year.  Next summer, larger groups will be invited to 
convene and talk about actions taken to help our deer in each of these 
places. 

• Finishing Elk and Pronghorn classification.  Some animals succumbed 
to thirst due to the lack of water. 

• Monitoring fire impacts to wildlife.  Director and Wildlife Board worked 
hard to be fair to hunters and gave them options to surrender their 
permits if they wanted. 

• CWD lymph node collection from the Fillmore, Beaver, Southwest 
Desert and Pine Valley units. Call the Southern Region office if you 
harvest and are willing to submit lymph nodes.  The more samples, the 
better.  

• Sage Grouse Brood Counts on the Parker Mountains; Mourning Dove 
banding, and continued Beaver relocation. 

• Prairie Dogs: Large colony at the airport in Wayne County, which has 
created some conflict.  Trying to negotiate a resolution with the FFA, 
Fish and Wildlife Services, and local airport operators. 

• Busy with Bat surveys. 

• Aquatics: Busy time, tried to get ahead of fires.  Salvaged nearly 100 
Bonneville Cutthroat from the Blubber Creek due to the France Canyon 
Fire and transferred to Fountain Green.  Attempted salvage of 
Bonneville Cutthroat in Water Canyon on the Pine Valley unit due to the 
Forsyth Fire.  Very few fish were found. Drought had already impacted 
the population.  Water quality in Manning Meadow reservoir could be 
impacted by sediment in the future. Most of Western Toad habitat has 
burned – will continue coordinating with the USFS. 

Washington County Field Office: Tough work in extreme heat. 

• Desert Tortoise:  Fire in Confluence Park. Fire retardant impacted the 
middle of the enclosure. Tortoises were washed off and moved to 
clean areas.  Some were transferred to Great Basin Serpentarium due 
to space limitations. 



 
   

     
 

      
 

    
  

    
 

    
   

 
   

 
 

     
    

 
  

    
    
    

 
    

 
 

  
    
   

 
   
  
    

  
   

 
 

 
  
    
   
   

   

• Western Toads:  On August 6, 2025, metamorph toads from the Hogle 
Zoo were released. Reproducing in the wild. 

• Least Chub: Monitoring going on all over the West Desert. 

• Woundfin: Endangered species in the Virgin River.  Some issues 
happened in the hatchery with some of our conservation populations 
that we are trying to overcome. 

• Smallmouth Bass: Conducted fall monitoring at Quail, Gunlock and 
Ivins Reservoirs. 

• Santa Clara River:  Surveys conducted, observed ash from Forsyth Fire 
in Baker and Gunlock; good number of native fish in Gunlock. 

• Southwestern Willow Flycatcher: Season totals are 9 breeding pairs 
and 16 fledglings; monitoring and cowbird removal are finished. 

• Habitat Section: South Beaver Drone application of Rejuvra 
completed last week – best tool to date to control cheat grass. 

• Lots of Lop and Scatter, cut and pile, and mastication. 
• Repaired guzzles and hauled water. 

• Outreach Section: 60 people attended Tushar Mountain Goat View 
Event on August 09, 2025. 

• Upcoming Events: 
• Utah State Fair – September 04-14, 2025. 
• Wild game cooking clinic at Southern Regional Office on September 

20, 2025. 
• Kokanee Salmon viewing event at Fish Lake on October 04, 2025. 
• Shotgun Clinic at Purgatory in Hurricane on October 11, 2025. 
• Youth and beginner Pheasant hunts:  Cedar City on November 01, 

2025 and Annabella and Pahvant on November 08 2025. 
• New Mule Deer dashboard on DWR website: 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/deer.  Public is strongly encouraged to check to 
this website out, lots of information. 

• Law Enforcement: 
• Very busy this time of year. 
• Trail cameras and baiting cases. 
• Quite a few reports of hunters using thermal-imaging and infrared 

devices to locate Big Game this year. 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/deer


   
   

     

    

   
 

      
     

    
   
   

 
                                      

       
 

  
 

     
 

    
   

   

  
    

  
 

     
 

       
    

 
   

  
     

 

• Using a new law enforcement database.  Shares information with all 
other agencies in the state.  Should increase officer safety. 

06:19:46 RAC Questions: None. 

06:20:08 Public Questions: None. 

06:20:10 RAC Discussion: 

• Bryant Johnson: Attended Mule Deer Public meeting in Richfield. 
• Encouraged to see many members of the public attended this meeting, 

hopes to see more of the public attend RAC meetings. 
• Great to have people that care attend. 
• Believes good things will come from these meetings. 

06:21:30 5) Statewide Angler Survey Results    (Informational) 
- Craig Walker, Assistant Wildlife Program Chief 

Presented the Division’s recommendations, information and answered 
questions. 

06:25:32 RAC Questions: None. 

• Bryant Johnson: Appreciated Craig Walker taking the time to review 
his presentation for the RAC members and public. 

06:26:01 Public Questions: None. 

06:26:44 RAC Discussion/Comments: 
• Russell Gardner: Amazed at the revenue fishing brings to the state, 

important to the state’s economy.  

• Rachel Bolus: Bird Watchers also bring in a lot of revenue. In 
Alabama they found fishermen, bird watchers, and then hunters (in that 
order) that brought in revenue for the state. 

06:27:51 Public Comments: 

Kevin Bunnell:  Online Comments: 
• Received two comments, only one left a written comment. 
• Written comment was not to advertise too broadly. 



                                 
       
 

  
    

   
 

 
   

 
   

     
  

     
  

 
    

 
   
   

     
     

 
   

 
  

  
 

       
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

  
   

   

06:28:30 6) Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results (Informational) 
- Trina Hedrick, Coldwater Sportsfish Coordination 

Presented the survey results and answered questions. Reiterated the 
importance of maintaining our participation rate. 

06:29:25 RAC Questions: 

• Chad Utley: There was some discussion about the increased pressure 
and the preference for cold water species versus warm water species. 

• Getting anglers to be more interested in warm water species because 
they self-populate. 

• Didn’t hear anything about developing more artificial flies and lures 
waters, catch and release.  That would solve some of the problems with 
the limitations on the hatcheries that were discussed. 

• Has there been any discussion on this? 

• Craig Walker: Yes, this has been looked at. Especially at community 
waters.  

• Looking at reducing harvesting fish at those bodies of water. 
• If we have naturally reproducing population of panfish or other 

sportsfish, like largemouth, is not able to sustain the harvest we have 
there. Then definitely reducing the harvest is the way to go. 

• Next year, we are looking at putting a bow on our implantation plan. 

• Bryant Johnson: In 2011, it was in the millions, now it is over two 
billion dollars in revenues now? 

• Doesn’t include fishing gear, guided trips, gas, groceries, etc. in our 
communities. 

• Trina Hedrick: Direct expenditure is just over two billion now. 

• Bryant Johnson:  Assumes this has something to do with the way you 
fish for the species versus being able to just throw a worm 

06:35:37 Public Comments: 

Kevin Bunnell: Online Comments: 

• The Boulder Mountain is a Blue Ribbon Fishery. 
• People are seeking solitude when fishing and are a bit nervous about 

us sending more people there. 



  
 

   
 

  
 

   
 

    
 

  
 

 
    

 
       
  

 
  

 
     

 
 

       
 

 
 

  
 

   
   

 
  

 
     

   
 

  

06:35:55 

06:42:41 

Additional RAC Questions: 

• Craig Walker: All of our survey results indicate that people want an 
escape. 

• Focused on dispersing pressure across the state. 
• Figuring out how far people are willing to go, how much they’re willing 

to pay, ect. 

• Trina Hedrick: The idea is not to direct anglers to the hottest spot in 
Utah and flood that area with fishermen. 

• We can send people to the High Uintah’s, the Boulder Mountains or 
other Blue Ribbon fishery. 

• You can search for Blue Ribbon Fisheries and a person can create 
their own opportunities. 

• Chad Utley: Really enjoyed Cutthroat Slam, great idea. 
• One of the things that came up was trying to get cold water anglers 

interested in warm water fish.  Have you thought of doing something 
like the Cutthroat Slam for warm water fish? 

• Trina Hedrick: No immediate plans for this; however, it has been 
discussed. 

• Craig Walker: Yes, it is a tool in our toolbox. 
• More effective recruitment tool as far as getting people exposed to a 

different species is to give them the opportunity for that experience.  If 
they’re in a body of water fishing for Trout and happen to catch a 
Wiper, and feel the tug of a Wiper, they may pivot to prefer fishing for 
Wiper. 

• Bryant Johnson: Assumes this has something to do with the way you 
fish for the species too, versus just being able to throw in a worm or 
work a jig back and forth. 

• Chad Utley: Agreed, that’s how he was introduced to Smallmouth 
Bass, rather catch them than Trout. 

Public Questions:  None. 



  
   
   
  
    

    
  

 
 

 
 
    

 
  

 
  

  
    

   
    

 
    
  

  
 

     
    

 
 

                    
       

 
  

  
    

 
   
  

 
  

 
   

 

06:42:51 RAC Discussion/Comments: 

• Bryant Johnson read a statement submitted by Chris Cannon: 
• Appreciates the Angler Survey and the Blue Ribbon studies. 
• May benefit the State to have the Non-resident one-day fishing licenses 

have a decreased fee for additional days – if they stay a day longer? 
• Idaho offers a $22.00 one-day fishing license, then $7.00 for each 

additional day to run consecutive. 
• Last RAC meeting someone stated the one-day license fee had 

increased significantly. 

• Chad Utley: His perspective was interesting.  We did away with one-
day licenses and went to three-day fishing licenses for Non-residents. 
He compared our three-day license to other states one-day license 
fees.  

• If you compare Utah’s three-day license to other states three-days 
licenses, Utah’s fees are less. 

• But, for Non-resident minors, the fee should maybe be reduced. 

• Craig Walker: Realizes we are about the Division of Resources 
revenue and that’s why we focus on changing our license fees, etc. 

• We recognize the value of fishing economically isn’t just to the Division. 
• The Blue Ribbon Fisheries were established to increase rural 

economies. 

• Bryant Johnson: Utah’s is doing a great job at promoting fishing, 
seems a lot of people want to come here to fish. 

06:46:59 7) Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep        (Action) 
- Rusty Robinson, Once-In-A Lifetime Species Coordinator 

Presented the Division’s recommendations and answered questions. 
06:48:00 RAC Questions 

• Trevor Barnson: Read through the plan a few times the last couple of 
years. Can you give a snapshot view of what the code is? 

• (Comments inaudible, microphone not on). 
• Appears to be proactive in trying to mitigate concerns with domestic 

Sheep. Appreciates that. 
• With the issues we’ve had in the past, why would we want to put 

Bighorn Sheep on the Boulder? Adjacent to domestic Sheep? 
• What is the current procedure for lethal removal of Sheep? 



   
  

 
  

 
    

   
   

 
 

   
     
  
  

 
  

   
  

 
   

      
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

    
   

  
      

    
 

    

  
 

• Rusty Robinson: Code was put into place in 2023.  If you are going to 
reintroduce a species that hasn’t been there in recent history, you need 
to have a unit plan.  We form a local committee with local stakeholders 
to write that unit plan.  We also create a mitigation plan, consider any 
potential conflicts that might arise for the reintroduction, and create a 
mitigation plan. 

• Updating legislation since the code has changed. 
• Where we aren’t thinking of putting them on the Boulder top, more in 

the Calf Creek area.  The closest risk would be backyard Sheep in the 
town of Boulder or Escalante.  Or other Bighorn Sheep that may 
wander over from Escalante. 

• Unaware of any general Sheep allotments in that general vicinity. 
• This gives us the option to start the process at some point in the future. 
• This plan expires in 2028 at which point we’ll write a new plan. Looking 

at areas in the next three years that might have potential for a 
transplant. The Fremont Island and the Boulder both came up as 
potential sites. 

• Whenever there’s a Bighorn Sheep that needs to be removed, the 
DWR tries to have a hunter take the sheep; however, if the Sheep is so 
sick it can’t stand up, we won’t wait for a hunter. Prioritize herd health. 

• We want to prioritize the standards of ethics and fair chase. 

• Bryant Johnson: That came up at one of the RAC meetings.  People 
want to see hunters move through the point process faster, social 
issue. 

• Trevor Barnson: Understood the DWR already had a process in place 
to have hunters take the Bighorn Sheep.  Wondered if we needed to 
restate the obvious.  Is it going to become more complicated – is 
someone going to micromanage the Biologist on how they remove 
Bighorn Sheep? 

• Rusty Robinson: We already had the language in the plan to address 
the removal of Bighorn Sheep. 

• In 2012, WAWFA wrote a document with guidelines for agencies that 
deal with Bighorn Sheep. This was re-written in 2025. They are only 
guidelines, we do not have to follow them. 

• Bryant Johnson: One of the areas you mentioned was Calf Creek.  In 
past, Bighorn Sheep off the Escalante and Henry Mountains have 
moved through the park and ended up in Bicknell.  Do we have Sheep 
already in Calf Creek that have come across the highway? 



   
   

 
    

     

   
 

   
 

   
   

 
 

   
     

 
     

    

   
 

   
 

     
     

  
 

      
     

 
    

  
 

  
  

 
  

  
   
  
    

 

• Rusty Robinson: Occasionally, we’ll see some Sheep that have 
wandered into that vicinity. 

• Morgan Hinton: We get reports of Bighorn Sheep from Kiva 
Coffeehouse on Highway 12 or by Phipps Arch. Down by Escalante. 
Assuming those Sheep come from Wolverine Bench.  To be fair, we 
aren’t looking right in Calf Creek, but a little further up into Death’s 
Hollow.  The wild Sheep are probably a bigger disease concern from 
the Escalante than the Domestic. 

• Bryant Johnson: Those Sheep have not become a problem like the 
ones that move through the park and into Bicknell that we are aware of, 
correct? 

• Morgan Hinton: Not aware of problems, they seem to come up and 
go back where they came from. 

• Kevin Bunnell: The issue on the north side of the Boulder are very 
different from the south side of the Boulder around Bicknell. We aren’t 
going to encourage Sheep there when they come into Sunglow.  There 
might be some opportunities near Calf Creek. 

• Calf Creek is pretty close to where there are already established 
Sheep. 

• Bryant Johnson: Chris Cannon, who is not here, asked for 
clarification – what is the goal of putting Sheep on Fremont Island?  Is it 
to establish a huntable population?  Use it as a nursery?  

• Rusty Robinson: It would be another nursery, a non-huntable area. 
• It’s six (6) miles north of Antelope Island. 

• Russell Gardner: From the Ag side, it seems when there’s a 
reintroducation of a species, everyone is concerned about their 
interests, whether it’s raising hay or grazing the land.  What kind of 
impact will this have on the locals?  Such as watering holes, etc. 

• Do you talk to individuals who live in the area? 

• Rusty Robinson: Generally, there is a predator management 
component, the DWR typically adds water, etc. 

• Looking for a win-win situation. 
• We are always open to improving habitat. 
• We would invite local stakeholders to be part of the unit plan process. 



  
  

  
   

 
  

 
  

   
 

    
 

  
  

 
      
  
   
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

  
   

    
    

   
    

   
 

     
  

 
 

  
 

    
   

 

07:08:25 

• Kevin Bunnell:  The reason this Sheep plan has worked is that the 
DWR has accepted the risk and not put the risk on the domestic 
populations.  If we need to kill a Bighorn Sheep, we will do it. 

• One reason this plan has made a difference. 

• Rusty Robinson: One component of the plan is to issue a COR to 
harvest a Bighorn Sheep if it is found co-mingling with domestic Sheep. 

• We aren’t going to try to grow Bighorn Sheep to the detriment of 
domestic Sheep. 

• Bryant Johnson:  Doesn’t remember seeing any changes to the 
Mountain Goats. 

• What is the population objective on the Beaver unit? 
• Is there any discussion of increasing this population? How would we go 

about looking at this? 
• Hasn’t seen as many Mountain Goats. 
• Are we there now? 
• Do Mountain Goats have an ill effect to domestic animals in any way? 
• Maybe the DWR can look at increasing the herd on that unit. 

• Rusty Robinson: The state code was updated for the Mountain Goat, 
no changes. 

• 200 is the objective for Mountain Goats on the Beaver 

• Mike Wardle: This is something we can look at.  When we were above 
the 200 number in 2014, we were having Nanny hunts to try to bring 
that number down.  We had Goats leaving the unit - going to the Dutton 
and the Monroe Peak. We took it as a sign that we had too many. 

• We aren’t there now. There is one on the Boulder, but we don’t know if 
it came from the Dutton or the Beaver. 

• They can be sources of pneumonia, but it’s not as big of a problem like 
it is with Bighorn Sheep. 

• Rusty Robinson: For the most part, we haven’t seen any ill-effects; 
however, they can transfer pneumonia to Bighorn Sheep. We want to 
keep them separated. 

Public Comments: 

• Kevin Bunnell:  Online comments: Only one person expressed an 
opinion and they strongly agreed on this.  No written comment was left. 



     
   

  
    

 
 

     
 

  
 

     
 

   
 

 
 

    
   

 
    

  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
     

   
   

   
 
 

    
  

     
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

07:13:26 

• Troy Henrie, Utah Farm Bureau: Plan was written well, appreciates 
any chance to avoid conflict with domestic Sheep. 

• What makes the Boulder Mountain such a great candidate for the 
reintroduction of Sheep? Seems there is more than a moderate risk for 
conflict with domestic Sheep. 

• Rusty Robinson: Looked at other areas, especially desert areas.  Al 
easy spots are taken. 

• Looking at areas where we are willing to accept some risk, placing the 
liability on DWR. 

• Habitat is there, most likely will mix with the other Bighorn someday. 

• Kevin Bunnell: Troy, in being a bit more specific, it will be a small 
area on the Boulder unit, near Calf Creek.  Not the whole unit.  Does 
that alleviate some of your concern?  

• Troy Henrie: There is a higher standard, just wanted to go on record 
with his concerns. 

• Richard: DWR states they are willing to take the risk; however, as a 
producer he is not willing to take the risk. 

• Stated the Mountain Goats could give it to the Bighorn Sheep, then 
Bighorn Sheep can give it to domestic Sheep. 

• Gets paid on lamb weight. 

• Rusty Robinson: From your perspective, in what way are we putting 
you at risk? 

• The pathogen doesn’t affect domestic Sheep like it does Bighorn 
Sheep. It can affect lamb weight. 

• If we test your sheep and they are all test clean, then we want to stay 
away.  There’s a highly likelihood that they already have the pathogen. 

• We issue COR’s. If a Bighorn Sheep wanders into your herd, we would 
appreciate and expect you to shoot it. 

Public Comments: 

• Troy Henrie, Utah Farm Bureau: As we move forward with some of 
these plans, reiterates need to include producers in establishing the 
plan. 

• Appreciates the need and want to increase population in different 
areas. 

• Makes sense to increase populations were they are already 
established. 



      
 

     
 

   
    

   

   
     

   
 

      
  

   
   

   
    

 
    

 
      

   
 

  
 

      
    

     
  

   
     

 
 

 
   

  
    

   
 

    
 

 
     

07:17:05 

• Scott Stubbs, Utah Public Lands Council: The Bighorn Sheep is a 
good plan, addresses concerns. 

• The Boulder Mountain is a concern. The Calf Creek area is not a 
sufficient distance away. Already having trouble with them coming out 
of Capitol Reef. 

• Appreciates Utah taking the risk, but you cannot control federal 
agencies. A dozen or so years ago, he was involved in an incident 
where they tried to deny transfer of a permit because of Bighorn Sheep 
that were well on the other side of domestic Sheep. The DWR was 
instrumental in telling them that they were not interested in that area. 

• Would like to see the DWR strike the Boulder Mountains. 

• Bryant Johnson: The Boulder Mountains is just being looked at as a 
consideration right now, correct? 

• If the DWR plans to move ahead, we would meet again and possibly 
ask to strike the Boulder Mountain area. 

• Scott, it’s good you voiced your concern tonight. We won’t be voting on 
this tonight. 

• Rusty Robinson: There is no immediate plan, probably two years out 
from transplanting Desert Bighorn Sheep. 

• Correct, we would meet locally, write the unit plan, etc. Take it back 
through the RAC process, etc. 

RAC Discussion/Comments: 

• Bryant Johnson: Commends the producers for attending tonight’s 
meeting. Great for the Division to hear their input. 

• Input from local constituents will be very important and appreciated. 
• Getting local input is very important. 

• Russell Gardner: Believes the Division is terrific and has done a great 
job in mitigating situations. 

• When the Elk plan came out a year ago, it went through the committee 
and it appeared that everyone was okay with it.  However, some 
producers in those areas were not onboard with it. 

• We need to do a better job at addressing people in those areas whose 
livelihoods are dependent on these areas – make sure their concerns 
are addressed. 

• Trevor Barnson: Made the motion the way he did because he 
believes there is language in place to address concerns. 

• Looked at the list of existing and augmented herds, confident the 
majority of them are not healthy – they could do better. 



  
    

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
      

   
 

    
 

   
    

   
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
                                                      

      
 

 
   

  
 

     
      

 
   

  
   

 
 

 
  

 
  

   
 

• Why are we adding new species to our list when our existing herds are 
not up to a healthy standard? We are potentially adding more 
problems. 

• Focus on what we are doing correctly. 
07:18:00 MOTIONS: 

The following motion was made by Trevor Barnson, seconded by Russell 
Gardner: 

MOTION: I move that we accept the Division’s proposal as presented, 
but remove the Boulder Mountains as a potential reintroduction site. 

Passed 5-3. Three opposed:  Rachel Bolus, Mike Grant, Chad Utley. 

• Rachel Bolus: Not opposed to the reintroduction of Bighorn Sheep on 
the Boulder Mountain in the future, concerned that if we approve at this 
time, there won’t be any further discussion on this matter at a later 
date.  

• Chad Utley: Convinced there are adequate precautions in place, no 
reason to remove it at this point. 

• Mike Grant: Agreed with Chad, adequate safeguards are in place, no 
reason to remove the Boulder. 

07:23:10 8) SER Big Game Management Plans     (Action) 
- Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 

Presented the Division’s recommendations/plan and answered questions. 
Looking to increase the objectives on three (3) Deer units in that region. 

07:23:28 RAC Questions: 

• Bryant Johnson: Are those units already at objective? 
• Fortunate to be able to increase your herd, usually favorable. 

• Dustin Mitchell: Switched some inputs in their models, created 
numbers to go over objective. 

• Didn’t necessarily grow more Deer. 

07:24:20 Public Comments: 

Kevin Bunnell: Online Comments: Only had one comment, which was 
strongly in favor. 



  
 

     
 

     
  

 
     

 
     

 
    

 
  

  
 

 
    

 
 

 
     
   

     
 

   

  
 

   
 

    
 

   
       

     
 

        
   

 
 

07:24:30 RAC Questions/Comments: 

• Russell Gardner: Will there be more permits for those areas? 

• Dustin Mitchell: Probably not.  Number of permits still based on Buck 
to Doe ratios on counts done after the hunts.  

• Kevin Bunnell: Russ, not immediately, but it does mean there’s room 
to grow in the future. 

• If they reach the new objective, there will be more permits. 

• Bryant Johnson: With the numbers you are showing now, how soon 
do you think you could reach these objectives? 

• The Manti has seen as significant increase with the removal of 
predators, specifically on the South Manti. Is that due to the removal of 
predators or due to habitat? 

• Dustin Mitchell: That is still to be determined based on having 
favorable weather conditions (rain), etc. 

• Range trend over the last year, habitat has done better on those three 
units.  

• We could grow more Deer, just not sure. 
• Definitely saw better survival on the South Manti due to the removal of 

predators, but biggest driving factor is weather. 

07:26:46 Public Questions:  None. 

07:27:21 MOTIONS: 

The following motion was made by Mike Grant, seconded by Trevor Barnson: 

MOTION:  I move that we accept the Division’s plan as presented.  

Passed unanimously. 
07:28:40 Next Board Meeting: September 18, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. at Farmington Bay, 

Utah. 

Next Meeting: November 18, 2025 6:00 p.m. Southern Utah University, 
Cedar City, Utah.
Meeting adjourned. 



 

 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 
 
 

    
  

 
          

  
 

                                                            
  

 
                                                                                       

  
 

                         
  

 
                             

   
 

             
  

 
              

   
 

 
 

 
                                                              

                                                 
                                                          

                                                
 

                                                              
                                                 

                                           
                       

 
                                                            

                                                                                          
                                                                       

            
 

RAC AGENDA 
September 3rd, 2025 

The meeting will stream live at https://youtube.com/live/cHH0ysQ4BZY 

1. Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
- RAC Chair 

2. 

Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 
- Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing Coordinator 

SER Big Game Management Plans 
- Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 

CR RAC – August 26th, 6:00 PM 
Wildlife Resources Conference Room 
1115 N. Main Street, Springville 
https://youtube.com/live/quAMrparfew 

Approval of Agenda and Minutes ACTION 
- RAC Chair 

3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update INFORMATIONAL 
- RAC Chair 

4. Regional Update INFORMATIONAL 
- DWR Regional Supervisor 

5. Statewide Angler Survey Results INFORMATIONAL 
– Craig Walker, Asst. Chief of Fisheries 

6. Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results INFORMATIONAL 
- Trina Hendrick, Coldwater Sportfish Coordinator 

7. ACTION 

8. ACTION 

SER RAC – September 3rd, 6:00 PM 
John Wesley Powell Museum 
1765 E Main St., Green River 
https://youtube.com/live/OrDz5I81Mzk 

NR RAC – August 27th, 6:00 PM NER RAC – September 4th, 6:00 PM 
Weber County Commission Chambers Wildlife Resources Conference Rm 
2380 Washington Blvd. Suite #240, Ogden 318 North Vernal Ave., Vernal 
https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8 https://youtube.com/live/2m6WXSeIFBk 

SR RAC – September 2nd, 6:00 PM Board Meeting – September 18th, 9:00 AM 
DNR Cedar City Complex Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
646 N Main St., Cedar City 1157 S. Waterfowl Way, Farmington 
https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8FmIo 

1 

https://youtube.com/live/cHH0ysQ4BZY
https://youtube.com/live/quAMrparfew
https://youtube.com/live/OrDz5I81Mzk
https://youtube.com/live/AFP16kQm4i8
https://youtube.com/live/2m6WXSeIFBk
https://youtube.com/live/REyVR7mavuE
https://youtube.com/live/PB0dsu8FmIo


 

 
 

  

  

  

 

 

 

    
 
 

    
 

   
 

     
 
 

    
 

  
 

  
  

 
   

     
 

    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Southeastern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 

September 3rd, 2025 

Summary of Motions 

Action Item 1: Approval of Agenda and Minutes 

• The following motion was made by Brad Richman, seconded by Charles Fischer and passed 
unanimously. 

Motion: To accept the agenda and minutes as written. 

Action Item 2: Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 

• The following motion was made by Mat Farnsworth, seconded by Cash Stallings and passed 
unanimously. 

Motion: To approve the division’s proposal as presented. 

Action Item 3: SER Big Game Management Plans 

• The following motion was made by Mat Farnsworth, seconded by Charles Fischer and passed 
unanimously. 

Motion: To approve the division’s proposal as presented. 

2 



 

 
 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                  

                                
        
                                                                                   

 
 
 
 

 
 

              
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

                                                                          
                                                                          

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

        
        
       

    
 
 
 
 
 

Southeastern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
September 3rd, 2025 

Attendance 

RAC Members 

Scoot Flannery – Chair Trish Hedin Matt Farnsworth 
Cash Stallings – Vice Chair Charles Fischer Daniel Luke 
Chris Wood –Exec. Secretary Jake Palma Brad Richman 

Board Members 

Kent Johnson Gary Nielson Justin Oliver 
Bob Christensen 

RAC Excused 

Jack Cantsee Jr. Tyler Gilson Steve Duke 
Justin Ivins Joe Sacco 

Division Personnel 

Rusty Robinson Chris Wood JD Abbott 
Brandon Behling Kyler Stilson Dustin Mitchell 
Ian Montgomery Joseph Christensen Wade Paskett 
Brad Crompton William Fick 

3 



 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

    
  

 

      

 
 

     

    

   

   

   

    

 

  

   

    

 

  

   

       

    

   

   

 

The following motion was made by Charles Fischer, seconded by Brad Richman and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: To approve the agenda and minutes. 

3) Regional Update – (Informational) 

Chris Wood Updated the RAC on all regional activities. 

4) Wildlife Board Meeting Update given by Scoot Flannery (Informational) 

Link on website to view. 

5) Statewide Angler Survey Results – (Informational) 

Craig Walker summarized the survey results 

RAC Comments/Questions 

Plans for survey results and future RAC recommendations. 

6) Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results – (Informational) 

Trina Hendrick summarized the survey results 

RAC Comments/Questions 

Southeastern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
September 3rd, 2025 

Minutes 

00:00:04 1) Chairman Scoot Flannery called the meeting to order, welcomed everyone and read a 
statement. All RAC members introduced themselves. 

00:04:20 2) Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 

00:05:28 

00:12:10 

00:18:05 

00:18:08 

00:19:16 

00:20:35 

Enjoyment of family fishing time and teaching skills is worth the cost. 

00:22:00 7) Mid-plan Review – Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep (Action) 

View presentations at https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

Rusty Robinson summarized the presentation. 

00:23:12 Questions from RAC Members/Public 

None. 

4 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html


 

 
 

  

 

   

 

  

 
  

    
   

    

     

    

   

   

 
   

 
   

   

  

  

  

 

  

 
 

  
 

   
 

    
 

00:23:15 Public Comments/Questions 

None 

00:23:21 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Chris Wood 

None 

00:23:36 RAC Discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 

Appreciation for previous comment about having some sheep is better than none. Elaboration on 
relationship with woolgrowers. 

00:26:35 The following motion was made by Mat Farnsworth, seconded by Cash Stallings and passed 
unanimously 

MOTION: Accept the division’s proposal as presented. 

00:27:32 8) SER Big Game Management Plans (Action) 

View presentations at https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

Dustin Mitchell summarized the presentation. 

00:28:22 Questions from RAC Members/Public 

Plans for managing CWD. Statewide objectives are rarely hit, and changes made in this plan to 
reach new objectives. How numbers for objective are prompted. Studies proposed that did not 
pass previously due to upcoming studies and incorporation of those studies in new plans. 
Clarification of new parameters. Habitat project goals and objectives and support from federal 
agencies. Effects of drought. Reaching objectives and initiation of antlerless harvest increase. 

00:39:40 Electronic/Public Comment Report by Chris Wood 

Chris Wood summarized the public comments/votes received. 

00:40:06 Public Comments/Questions 

None 

00:40:10 RAC Discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 

Diverse group on committee and discussions about CWD and habitat health. Appreciation for 
attendance of Wildlife Board members. Success rates for goals and possibility for objectives 
numbers being too high. Elk and livestock on the landscape. Realistic goals. Habitat project 
implantation and repercussions of not increasing objectives along with clarification of CWD 
plans discussed in committee. Factors contributing to CWD. Population increase over 5 years. 
Population objectives based on buck to doe ratios. 

00:51:36 The following motion was made by Mat Farnsworth, seconded by Charles Fischer and passed 
unanimously. 

5 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html


 

 
 

    

     
 

  

 

 

 

 

  
  

    

MOTION: To approve the division’s proposal as presented. 

00:52:34 The following motion was made by Charles Fischer, seconded by Brad Richman and passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: To adjourn. 

6 



     
   

 

       

      

     

     

      

    

    

    

    

   

   

   

 

  

  

   

 

 

   

       

   

 

    

      

     

    

     

Northeastern Region Advisory Council Meeting 

September 4th, 2025 

RAC Present RAC Excused RAC Not Present 

Nathan Crapo Mark Chynoweth 

Adam Nielson(Online) Dwayne Davies 

Grizz Oleen Jake Huber 

Eric Major (Online) Collin Crozier 

Richard Buehler 

Natasha Hadden 

Jordon McHahon 

Willis Lefevre 

Wildlife Board 

-Bob Christensen 

-Kent Johnson(Online) 

DWR Staff Present 

Miles Hanberg Rusty Robinson 

Tonya Kieffer-Selby Trina Hendrick 

Anthony Christianson Craig Walker 

Dallon Christensen 

Torrey Christopherson 

Pat Rainbolt 



    

 

            

   

      

            

   

 

       

            

    

 

         

    

          

      

          

     

      

 

     

      

    

        

   

    

   

    

  

       

Dustin Mitchell 

00:00:00 1) Welcome and introductions by RAC Chairman, Nathan Crapo, filling in 

for Eric Major. 

00:03:18 2) Wildlife Board Meeting Update 

● Nathan Crapo read the motions summary from the June 12th, 2025 

Wildlife Board meeting. 

00:06:37 3) Approval of Agenda and Minutes 

● The following motion was made by Natasha Hadden, seconded by Grizz 

Oleen, and passed unanimously. 

MOTION: To approve the agenda and minutes as presented. 

00:07:17 4) Regional Update 

● Miles Hanberg gave a brief summary of regional updates. 

00:19:30 5) Statewide Angler Survey Results 

● Craig Walker gave a brief summary of the survey. 

00:21:58 Questions from the RAC 

● No questions from the RAC. 

00:22:00 Questions from the public 

● No questions from the public. 

00:22:02 Online comment summary 

● The public wants to see more trout. 

00:22:20 Public comment 

● No Public comments. 

00:23:09 RAC discussion 

● No RAC discussion. 

00:23:17 6) Blue Ribbon Economic Survey Results 



          

     

             

             

            

        

 

     

      

 

    

             

   

   

    

   

    

 

         

         

              

     

      

           

        

             

    

     

      

    

● Trina Hendrick gave a brief summary of the survey. 

00:27:59 Questions from the RAC 

● Grizz Oleen was surprised there was more brook trout than cutthroat trout. 

● Does the division have a plan to advertise these warm water fish? 

● Natasha made a comment that involving the youth would increase the 

amount of fish for the youngsters to catch. 

00:32:10 Questions from the public 

● No questions from the public. 

00:31:50 Online comment summary 

● The public wants to see more trout, specifically brown trout, brook trout, 

and cutthroat trout. 

00:32:12 Public comment 

● No public comments. 

00:32:20 RAC discussion 

● No RAC discussion. 

00:32:30 7) Mid-plan Review- Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep 

● Presented by Rusty Robinson , Once-in-a-lifetime Species Coordinator 

● Rusty did a brief summary of the Mountain Goat and Bighorn Sheep plan. 

00:33:39 Questions from the RAC 

● What were the changes made? 

● Do you have the inventory to reintroduce sheep and goats? 

● Will Fremont be another nursery or huntable? 

● When does the division decide that they have enough to reintroduce the 

species in certain units? 

00:39:10 Questions from the public 

● No questions from the public. 

00:39:19 Online comment summary 



              

              

    

   

    

   

    

  

             
    

 
        

   
       

        

              

  

     
          
            

  
     

      

    

              

    
   

    

   

             

            

   

● Neutral- The plan needed to be reviewed every two years and would like 

the once in a lifetime hunts to have longer season dates, and no population 

surveys during the hunts. 

00:39:44 Public comment 

● No public comments. 

00:39:50 RAC discussion 

● No RAC discussion. 

00:40:02 Motion: 

● The following motion was made by Natasha Hadden , seconded by Jordon 
McMahon, and passed Unanimously 

● MOTION: To accept the plan as presented. 

00:40:50 8) SER Big Game Management Plans 

● Presented by Dustin Mitchell, Southeastern Wildlife Manager 

● Dustin did a brief summary of the SER big game management plans. 

00:41:25 Questions from the RAC 

● How is the cwd going to affect the population? 
● Could the test results change the future as far as population 

control goes? 
00:43:29 Questions from the public 

● No questions from the public. 

00:43:40 Online comment summary 

● Somewhat disagree. They want to see more deer and less doe permits, and 

see tags cut overall. 

00:44:44 Public comment 

● No public comments. 

00:44:46 RAC discussion 

● Grizz Oleen likes the opportunity increase and more hunting in the state. 

● It is good to have these meetings to talk about objectives. 

00:46:19 Motion: 



             
    

 
                

  

  

  

 

 

● The following motion was made by Grizz Oleen , seconded by Willis 
LeFevre, and passed unanimously. 

00:47:00 A motion to Adjourn made by Grizz Oleen , seconded by Natasha Hadden , and 

passed unanimously. 

00:47:14 Adjourn 



















































































FISCAL YEAR 
2025 

UTAH’S CONSERVATION PERMIT PROGRAM 

ANNUAL REPORT 



    
   

                
              

    
               

      
                 

 

      
  

     
    

               
            

    
    

 
  

 
       

  

 
  

       
 

  
  

 
              

               
   

       
            

              
  

   

          
   

  

Utah’s Conservation Permit Program 
Annual Report — Fiscal Year 2025 

Utah’s Conservation Permit Program benefits all Utah hunters. What started in the early 1980s as a creative 
approach to raise needed funds for wildlife conservation has blossomed into a well-regulated program that 
raises millions of dollars each year. Those dollars are then invested back into wildlife conservation. This 
novel approach to funding conservation has allowed the Utah Division of Wildlife Resources (DWR) to seize 
opportunities, grow the state’s wildlife populations and improve wildlife management. This program is 
made possible by public draw hunters generously giving up a small percentage of coveted permits to help 
generate revenue for Utah’s wildlife. 

Origins of Utah’s Conservation Permit Program 
Historical accounts and archeological evidence indicate that bighorn sheep were once abundant across 
much of Utah, but in the early 1970s, many of Utah’s bighorn sheep populations were struggling or had 
altogether disappeared. There was a very limited distribution of desert bighorn sheep across southern 
Utah. Biologists observed large tracts of unoccupied desert bighorn sheep habitat and, at the same time, 
became concerned about the many desert bighorn concentrated in Canyonlands National Park. Wildlife 
managers recognized that the high bighorn densities in Canyonlands were not sustainable. Those excess 
bighorn sheep presented wildlife managers with both an opportunity and a dilemma. 

The excess bighorn in Canyonlands 
provided an opportunity to establish 
new populations and augment other 
struggling herds, but how could a large-
scale, expensive translocation project 
fit within the tight constraints of the 
DWR’s budget? At about the same 
time, a group of avid hunters founded 
the Utah Bighorn Sheep Society. They 
made a proposal to generate funding to 
reestablish bighorn sheep in the state. 
They asked for one permit that could 
be sold at auction, with the proceeds 
dedicated to bighorn sheep 

management. In 1980, the first permit sold for $20,000, and Utah’s Conservation Permit Program was born. 
The program allowed generous hunters to help cover the costs of conserving, transplanting and managing this 
highly sought-after species. 

The conservation permit strategy was effective, and over several years the DWR used the proceeds of 
auctioned desert bighorn sheep conservation permits to fund a successful translocation program. That 
program led to the establishment and/or supplementation of new desert bighorn sheep herds in several 
hunting units, including San Rafael-North, San Rafael-South, Henry Mountains, Kaiparowits-East and 
Kaiparowits-Escalante, as well as herds within Arches National Park and Capitol Reef National Park. 

The early success of the Conservation Permit Program led to its expansion. The program now includes and 
benefits the following species: bear, bighorn sheep (desert and Rocky Mountain), bison, deer, elk, moose, 
mountain goat, pronghorn and turkey. 



    
   

                  
   

             
     

              
 

 

    
    

   
 

  
  

   

             
                 

   
    

  
   

   
              

  

How the program works 
Conservation permits represent only a small percentage of total hunting permits issued, but they can 
produce big results. The number of conservation permits allocated for a given species is based on how well a 
population is doing (e.g., population size, increasing trends and long-term health) and the number of 
hunting permits available to public hunters. As public hunting opportunities increase, conservation permits 
may also increase, with a maximum of eight conservation permits per hunting unit. After the Utah Wildlife 
Board approves specific permits and numbers, the DWR partners with wildlife conservation organizations to 
sell the permits. 

Conservation organizations that participated in the program in fiscal year 2025 included the Dallas Safari 
Club Utah Chapter (DSC), Mule Deer Foundation (MDF), National Wild Turkey Federation (NWTF), Rocky 
Mountain Elk Foundation (RMEF), Safari Club International (SCI), Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife (SFW), 
Utah Archery Association (UAA), Utah Chukar & Wildlife Foundation (UCWF), Utah Houndsmen Association 
(UHA), Utah Wild Sheep Foundation (UWSF) and Wildlife Conservation Foundation (WCF). Other 
conservation groups can also apply to participate by following the procedures listed in Utah Administrative 
Rule R657-41, which is the rule that regulates the Conservation Permit Program. 

The conservation organizations market, promote and auction the permits. These auctions typically coincide 
with chapter banquets, expos or other fundraising events. The goal is to maximize revenue to fund wildlife 
conservation activities. After the auction, the conservation organization returns 30% of the money raised 
directly to the DWR. The conservation organizations may keep up to 10% of the proceeds to cover 
administrative costs, and the remaining 60% is held by the conservation organizations for a short time as 
they work cooperatively with the DWR to choose approved conservation projects to fund. As a result, 
hunters can identify and prioritize projects that matter to them and then direct conservation permit 
funding to those projects. It gives conservation-minded hunters a strong voice and encourages cooperation 
and collaboration between the DWR and participating organizations. 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/r657-41.html
https://wildlife.utah.gov/r657-41.html


 
    

              
             

  
  

                  
   
             

    
  

   
                   

             
  

 
 

 

Seizing opportunities 
The funds raised through the Conservation Permit Program are reinvested back into Utah’s wildlife. 
Conservation projects are wide ranging and provide diverse benefits. With these projects, wildlife managers 
can establish new populations, augment existing populations, improve wildlife habitat, monitor for diseases 
and conduct essential research. The program provides resources and tools that let wildlife biologists and 
hunters accomplish remarkable things for wildlife and habitat conservation. 

Having a source of funding available to wildlife managers in a timely manner can make all the difference 
when it comes to managing wildlife. Wildlife and their habitats are dynamic, and changes can happen 
rapidly. The desert bighorn sheep source population in Canyonlands National Park experienced a die-off 
shortly after the translocations in the 1980s occurred. Had wildlife managers been forced to pursue 
traditional funding, which is typically limited in availability and takes much longer to obtain, that 
opportunity might have been lost. Whether it is capturing source animals when they are abundant, or 
striking while the iron (or ground) is hot to get a wildfire reseeded, timing is essential in effective wildlife 
management. Utah’s Conservation Permit Program allows wildlife managers to adapt to challenges and 
allocate resources where and when they are needed. 

Photo courtesy of Jim Shuler 



      
                   

    
  

 
    
     

   

 
  

     
                

     
     
       

         
           

     

        
              

         
      

       
           

          

    
     

   
   

               
           

   

                 
     

      
   

Improving wildlife management in FY 2025 
Having adequate funding is often a source of concern and a limitation for state fish and wildlife agencies. While 
many Western states struggle with increasingly stretched budgets, Utah leads the way with habitat work, 
wildlife transplants, wildlife research and monitoring. 

The Conservation Permit Program is key to providing funding for needed research and management of Utah’s 
game populations. Below are examples of work completed this past year that would not have been possible 
without funding from conservation groups and the Conservation Permit Program. 

Turkey translocations 

In January 2025, the DWR partnered with the Texas Parks & Wildlife Department and National Wild Turkey 
Federation to transport 25 Rio Grande turkeys from Texas to Utah. The translocation had three main purposes: 

• To collect data on the survival rates of turkeys in different habitat types 
• To measure the nesting success of translocated vs. resident birds 
• To collect feathers for genetic sampling 

In total, 18 hens, five toms and two jakes were transported to Utah from Texas via Delta cargo. The birds 
were all fitted with bands prior to shipment, and upon arrival, 13 of them were fitted with GPS transmitters, 
12 of which also had VHF capability. 

The turkeys’ southern Utah release site was chosen because it had similar climatic conditions to Texas and 
featured suitable habitat types that offered ample food and cover. The new birds would also augment an 
existing turkey population. During processing, biologists measured the turkeys’ weights and took feather 
samples, assessed their body condition and administered electrolytes. The turkeys were then placed into a 
soft-release pen at the release site. (The pen’s design and methodology came from Arizona Game and Fish, 
which has reported high post-translocation survival rates of soft-released turkeys.) The turkeys were released 
once the results from the veterinary diagnostics lab confirmed all birds to be disease free. 

In February, 14 resident birds were caught and processed from the same location. These resident turkeys 
were also banded and fitted with GPS transmitters (12 of which also had VHF capability). To date, four Texas 
turkeys and 10 resident turkeys have transmitters that are still working. Of these, two Texas birds and six 
resident birds likely nested this year; four nesting residents were confirmed in the field. Low nesting rates are 
to be expected as translocations are stressful, and most turkeys do not nest during the first year after the 
event. The remaining birds either died or their backpacks stopped transmitting locations. The turkeys that are 
still on air and transmitting at the release site will continue to be monitored. 

In addition to this project, 1,057 resident turkeys were trapped in Utah this year. Of those, 149 were taken to 
Nevada, and the rest were translocated within the state. NWTF funded two full-time seasonal positions — 
one in the Northern Region and one in the Central Region — and those employees were instrumental in the 
success of trapping and translocating turkeys this past winter and spring. 



 
 

 
  

  
Figures 1 and 2: It appears that the Texas birds roamed more just after translocation, exploring the habitat to decide 
where to settle. Two nonresident birds and six resident birds are assumed to have nested, due to telemetry data. 



  

        
       

       
       

       
      

         
                 

   
    

     
 

 
     

    
     

    
     

    

 
                  

    
  

 

Neonate projects 

On many wildlife management units across Utah, fawn recruitment rates are below historical averages, and 
the reasons for the decreases are unknown. (Fawn recruitment is the process of fawns surviving long enough 
to become part of the adult deer population.) In FY23, the DWR worked with Brigham Young University, Utah 
State University and conservation partners to conduct mule deer neonate survival studies on four study sites 
across Utah: Mt Nebo, Range Creek, La Sal and San Juan. (A neonate is a fawn between the ages of 0–6 
months.) These studies were designed to improve researchers’ understanding of mule deer does’ body 
conditions and pregnancy rates, neonate birth timing, neonate survival rates and causes of mortality. From 
March 2023 to March 2025, 180 pregnant does from the four units were captured and fitted with GPS collars. 
The does were also implanted with a vaginal implant transmitter (VIT) that sent a message to biologists in the 
spring right after a birth occurred. This allowed biologists to immediately locate the newborn fawns so they 
could be collared, assessed and monitored. The number of fawns captured by year and unit are shown in the 
table below. 

Unit name FY23 FY24 FY25 
Nebo 36 73 57 
Range Creek 58 59 44 
La Sal 45 56 41 
San Juan 54 60 32 
Totals 193 248 174 

This project will provide a better understanding of the timing and causes of neonate mortality and how these 
vary across the state and by year. This data will also allow managers and biologists to implement management 
actions to improve neonate survival and recruitment. 



  

     
    

    
     

       
          

       
            

     
    

           
     
    

        
          

     

 

Pronghorn transplant 

For more than 50 years, the pronghorn herd on Parker Mountain in southern Utah has served as a source 
population for pronghorn transplants throughout Utah and other Western states. Nearly 6,000 animals have 
been captured there and relocated since 1975. However, due to recent population struggles, no transplants 
occurred between 2014 and 2024. 

Fortunately, the Parker Mountain pronghorn population has recovered in recent years. In 2025, it once again 
had enough animals for a capture-and-transplant project. In late January 2025, the DWR and its conservation 
partners captured 317 pronghorn from Parker Mountain for transplant to four management units across Utah. 
These units included the Cache, Mt Dutton/Paunsaugunt, South San Rafael and Southwest Desert. 

To capture the pronghorn, a helicopter was used to herd groups of around 50 animals at a time into a funnel 
trap. Once inside the trap, animals were mugged, processed, loaded into trailers and then taken to their 
respective units. As part of the transplant — for the first time ever— the DWR was able to initiate a study 
examining the success of the transplant. To do this, 279 pronghorn were fitted with GPS collars that provide 
biologists with data on their survival rates, cause-specific mortality, and movement rates and patterns. 
Preliminary results suggested that although the initial survival rates of the transplanted animals were lower 
than ideal, the pronghorn that survived the first three weeks after the release are now doing well, and many 
have integrated with resident pronghorn herds at the release sites. 



   

         
   

              
            

     
    

 
               

     

       
         
        
         
         
         
         

   

 

      
       
      
      
       
        
      
      
        
       
      
      
       
         
         
       

Big game captures 

Utah’s biologists conduct regular aerial surveys to count bighorn sheep, bison, elk, moose, mountain goats and 
pronghorn. Conservation permits have also contributed to the ongoing monitoring of black bear and cougar 
survival, disease monitoring, turkey-trapping efforts and other components of wildlife management. In FY 2025, 
conservation permit sales helped fund the capture and/or collaring of nearly 2,000 big game animals as part of 
translocations, research, monitoring and disease-testing activities (see Table 1 below). This work would not 
have been possible without the money generated through Utah’s Conservation Permit Program. 

Table 1. Big game animals captured and/or collared using conservation permit funds in FY 2025 

Species No. animals Unit Purpose 

Bighorn sheep 38 Nevada Translocated to Promontory 

10 Henry Mtns Survival, disease testing and migration 

40 Kaiparowits Survival, disease testing and migration 

19 North Slope Survival, disease testing and migration 

10 Pilot Mtns Survival, disease testing and migration 

26 Pine Valley Survival, disease testing and migration 

2 Willow Creek Survival, disease testing and migration 

Total 145 

Deer 15 Anthro Survival and migration 

40 Book Cliffs Survival and migration 

28 Boulder Survival and migration 

51 Cache Survival and migration 

11 East Canyon Survival and migration 

133 La Sal Survival, migration and neonate capture 

59 Manti Survival and migration 

57 Monroe Survival and migration 

119 Nebo Survival, migration and neonate capture 

23 North Slope Survival and migration 

60 Oquirrh-Stansbury Survival and migration 

41 Pahvant Survival and migration 

88 Pine Valley Survival and migration 

159 Range Creek Survival, migration and neonate capture 

83 San Juan Survival, migration and neonate capture 

46 South Slope Survival and migration 



       
       
      

   

 

       
      
       
         
        

   

 

       
       
       

   

 

       
       
      

   

 

      
         
       
       

   

 

    

25 Southwest Desert Survival and migration 

52 Wasatch West Survival and migration 

40 Zion Survival and migration 

Total 1,130 

Elk 23 Box Elder Survival and migration 

41 Cache Survival and migration 

16 East Canyon Survival and migration 

63 Hardware Ranch Survival, disease testing and migration 

52 Nebo Survival, migration and neonate capture 

Total 195 

Moose 12 Box Elder Survival and migration 

15 Wasatch East Survival and migration 

25 Wasatch West Survival and migration 

Total 52 

Mountain Goat 10 La Sal Survival and migration 

32 Tushar Mtns Survival and migration 

12 Uintas Survival and migration 

Total 54 

Pronghorn 5 Anthro Survival and migration 

317 Parker Mtn Transplant to augment other herds 

21 Parker Mtn Survival and migration 

20 Southwest Desert Survival and migration 

Total 363 

Total animals 1,939 



     
                

                
               

     
     

    
 

      
 

   
   

  
  

   
   
   

    
   
  

     
   
   

 
    

       
                 

                
 

  
       

  

 
  

    
              

   
                 

  
    

   

Program results in FY 2025 
The Utah Wildlife Board approved 336 conservation permits for FY 2025 (see Table 2 below). This represents 
less than 2% of the total number of permits issued for all these hunts combined. The permits were 
auctioned by conservation organizations and raised more than $8.7 million. In contrast, if these permits had 
been sold at current resident permit prices, they would have raised just over $56,000. Since 2001, 
conservation permits have generated more than $96 million for conservation work in Utah. See the 2025 
Conservation Permit Program Audit for more information. 

Table 2. Conservation permits authorized for FY 2025 

Permit type Number 
Antlerless elk 20 
Bear 44 
Bison 6 
Buck deer 39 
Bull elk 91 
Bull moose 5 
Desert bighorn sheep 8 
Mountain goat 7 
Pronghorn 69 
Rocky Mountain bighorn sheep 6 
Wild turkey 41 
Total permits 336 

The true value of conservation permit dollars often exceeds the balance listed on paper. The DWR 
frequently uses this money to serve as matching funds for grants and other funding mechanisms that result 
in much larger amounts being awarded and spent in Utah. For example, in projects permitted by the Pittman-
Robertson Act, every dollar generated by the Conservation Permit Program can be matched by three dollars 
in federal aid. 

In FY 2025, conservation permit funds covered the costs of numerous habitat, research and monitoring 
projects. The amount of revenue spent directly on approved projects or transferred to the DWR to help 
fund conservation-related projects can be found in the conservation permit audit. 

Program oversight 
The DWR understands the value of Utah’s wildlife resources and takes many steps to ensure the 
Conservation Permit Program is transparent, complies with administrative rule and uses funds effectively for 
wildlife conservation purposes. In addition to an annual report, the DWR conducts an audit of the 
Conservation Permit Program each year. Both the annual report and the results of the audit are presented in 
a public meeting to the Utah Wildlife Board. Additionally, specific information about all funded 
conservation projects — including project details, budgets, wildlife benefits and summary reports — is 
available online at wri.utah.gov. 

http://wri.utah.gov/


   
    

   
                   

      
               

  
              

  
 

 

Successful wildlife conservation 
In FY 2025, Utah’s Conservation Permit Program raised millions of dollars that were directed back into 
productive and meaningful wildlife conservation projects. These projects help the DWR better fulfill its 
mission of serving as trustees and guardians of the state’s wildlife. The program has a track record of success 
and creates unique opportunities for hunters to work with the DWR in expanding wildlife populations and 
conserving wildlife habitat. As a result of this program, Utahns have more wildlife species to enjoy, and 
hunters have a greater diversity of hunting opportunities. Translocations and population growth have also 
ensured the availability of more hunting permits. The DWR believes that wildlife is valuable to everyone, and 
the Conservation Permit Program protects and improves wildlife and wildlife habitats for all to enjoy. 



















































 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
     

   

 

 
 

 
 
 

        
 

      
 

          
 

   
  

 
 

 
  

  
 

  
   

  
 

 
  

 

SPENCER J. COX 
Governor 

DEIDRE M. HENDERSON 
Lieutenant Governor 

State of Utah 
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 

JOEL FERRY 
Executive Director 

Division of Wildlife Resources 
RILEY PECK 

Division Director 

TO: Wildlife Board  

FROM:    Covy Jones Wildlife Section Chief 

DATE: September 3, 2025 

SUBJECT: Expo Permit Allocation 
The Utah Division of Wildlife Resources is recommending 200 hunting permits for the Hunt 
Expo (see attached tables for details). Proposed changes this year include: 

Discontinued Permits: 
• Elk  

o Wasatch Mtns (1 archery) 
New Permits: 

• Pronghorn 
o Parker Mtn (1 any legal weapon) 

All other expo permits will remain the same as last year. 

CDJ 

1594 West North Temple, Suite 2110, PO Box 146301, Salt Lake City, UT 84114-6301 
telephone (801) 538-4700 • facsimile (801) 538-4709 • TTY (801) 538-7458 • www.wildlife.utah.gov 

www.wildlife.utah.gov


       
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  
  

    
   

    
   

   
  
     
    
     
  
  
 
  

    
    
  
  
   
    
     
    
   
  
  
 
   
     
   
  
  
    
    
    
   
   
  

  
     
   
    
      
   
     
    
    
  
   
   

       
       
       

    
     

     
     
     
     
     

   

Board Approved: 8/27/2015

2026 Proposed Expo Permits by Species and Residency 

TOTAL PERMITS 

Res NonRes Total 

Grand Total 148 52 200 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Antlerless Elk Manti 017, EA1018, EA1 Any Open Season and Unit Wit 2 1 3 

Antlerless Elk La Sal 038, EA1039, EA1 Any Open Season and Unit Wit 1 0 1 

Antlerless Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes 078, EA1079, EA1 Any Open Season and Unit Wit 0 1 1 

Total 3 2 5 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Bison Book Cliffs, Little Creek/South BI6531 Hunter's Choice 1 0 1 

Bison Henry Mtns BI6503 Hunter's Choice (early) 1 0 1 

Bison Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek BI6536 Cow Only 1 0 1 

Bison Henry Mtns BI6505 Cow Only (early) 0 1 1 

TOTAL 3 1 4 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Black Bear Wasatch Mtns, West-Central BR7120 Summer, Any Legal Weapon, N 1 1 2 

Black Bear La Sal BR7008 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 1 2 

Black Bear Nine Mile BR7211 Fall, Any Legal Weapon 1 0 1 

Black Bear Boulder/Kaiparowits BR7215 Fall, Any Legal Weapon 1 0 1 

Black Bear Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South BR7001 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 0 1 

Black Bear Diamond Mtn/Vernal/Bonanza BR7015 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 0 1 

Black Bear Manti North BR7003 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 0 1 

Black Bear Nebo BR7005 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 0 1 

Black Bear San Juan BR7014 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No 1 1 2 

TOTAL 9 3 12 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, North DB1017 Any Weapon 3 1 4 

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, South DB1018 Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Deer Book Cliffs DB1011 Archery 1 1 2 

Buck Deer Book Cliffs DB1025 Muzzleloader 2 1 3 

Buck Deer Cache, Crawford Mtn DB1026 Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Manti/San Rafeal DB1079 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Fillmore, Oak Creek LE DB1019 Any Weapon 2 0 2 

Buck Deer Henry Mtns DB1003 Premium Any Weapon 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1004 Premium Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1001 Premium Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1006 Premium Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1010 Management Buck, Any Weapo 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Pine Valley DB1034 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer San Juan, Elk Ridge DB1022 Any Weapon 1 1 2 

Buck Deer Diamond Mtn DB1023 Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Deer Diamond Mtn DB1015 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Diamond Mtn DB1038 Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Wasatch Mtns, West DB1087 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer Wasatch Mtns, East DB1041 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1024 Any Weapon 3 1 4 

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1016 Archery 2 1 3 

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1042 Muzzleloader 1 1 2 

Buck Deer Zion DB1043 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

TOTAL 33 10 43 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 
Buck Pronghorn Beaver PB5025 Any Weapon 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek PB5026 Any Weapon 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Diamond Mtn/Bonanza PB5047 Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Pronghorn Fillmore, Oak Creek South PB5008 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Fillmore, Oak Creek South PB5033 Any Weapon 2 0 2 

Buck Pronghorn Mt Dutton/Paunsaugunt PB5331 Any Weapon 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Anthro-Myton Bench PB5037 Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Anthro-Myton Bench PB5011 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Anthro-Myton Bench PB5059 Muzzleloader 0 1 1 

Buck Pronghorn Parker Mtn PB5077 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Parker Mtn PB5076 Any Weapon 1 1 2 

Buck Pronghorn Pine Valley PB5042 Any Weapon 1 0 1 



   
   
    
  
  
   
    

    
    
  
   
      
      
    
  
    
  
    
    
  
   
   
   
 
 
   
     
     
    
  
       
       
     
       
    
    
  
  
    
    
   
 
   
    
    
    
  
  
    
      
      
     
     
     
   
    
    
    
  
   
  
  

   

 

 

Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5015 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5056 Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5046 Any Weapon 3 1 4 

Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5018 Archery 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5024 Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5049 Any Weapon 2 1 3 

Buck Pronghorn West Desert, Riverbed PB5050 Any Weapon 1 0 1 

TOTAL 24 6 30 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3159 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3025 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3000 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3158 Archery (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/East EB3163 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Book CLiffs, Bitter Creek/East EB3164 Any Weapon (mid) 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/East EB3160 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville EB3003 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Cache, South EB3036 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Cache, South EB3005 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Diamond Mtn EB3068 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Diamond Mtn EB3069 Any Weapon (mid) 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Diamond Mtn EB3020 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Manti EB3038 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2 

Bull Elk Manti EB3126 Any Weapon (mid) 3 2 5 

Bull Elk Manti EB3039 Any Weapon (late) 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Manti EB3006 Archery 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Manti EB3084 Muzzleloader 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3173 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3175 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3177 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant EB3043 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant EB3008 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3045 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3183 Any Weapon (mid) 1 1 2 

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3009 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3046 Any Weapon (late) 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Mt Dutton EB3050 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Mt Dutton EB3187 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Mt Dutton EB3011 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3015 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3056 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3189 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Boulder EB3148 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Boulder EB3145 Archery 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Boulder EB3191 Any Weapon (Mid) 1 1 2 

Bull Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3063 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2 

Bull Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3064 Any Weapon (Mid) 3 2 5 

Bull Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3065 Any Weapon (late) 2 0 2 

Bull Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3018 Archery 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3096 Muzzleloader 1 0 1 

Bull Elk San Juan Bull Elk EB3019 Archery 1 0 1 

Bull Elk San Juan Bull Elk EB3066 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk San Juan Bull Elk EB3194 Any Weapon (mid) 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3149 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3198 Any Weapon (mid) 1 1 2 

Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3152 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3146 Archery 0 1 1 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3072 Any Weapon (early) 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3073 Any Weapon (late) 2 1 3 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3127 Any Weapon (mid) 3 1 4 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3022 Archery 3 2 5 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3199 Archery (late) 1 0 1 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3100 Muzzleloader 2 2 4 

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3124 Multi-Season 1 0 1 

TOTAL 65 26 91 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Bull Moose Wasatch Mtns/Central Mtns MB6011 1 1 2 

TOTAL 1 1 2 



 

 

 

 

   
    

   
   

      
     

   
   

   
   
   

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

Desert Bighorn Sheep Kaiparowits, East DS6601 1 0 1 

Desert Bighorn Sheep San Rafael, North DS6609 1 0 1 

TOTAL 2 0 2 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

TOTAL 2 0 2 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

TOTAL 2 0 2 

PERMITS 

Species Area Hunt Number Condition Res NonRes Total 

TOTAL 4 3 7 

Mountain Goat Nebo GO6821 Hunter's Choice, Archery 1 0 1 

Mountain Goat Beaver Early GO6800 Hunter's Choice 1 0 1 

Rocky Mtn. Bighorn Sheep Box Elder, Newfoundland Mtn RS6703 (early) 1 0 1 

Rocky Mtn. Bighorn Sheep Fillmore, Oak Creek RS6720 (early) 1 0 1 

Turkey Northern Area TK1005 Spring, Limited Entry 1 1 2 

Turkey Northeast Area TK1004 Spring, Limited Entry 1 0 1 

Turkey Central Area TK1003 Spring, Limited Entry 1 0 1 

Turkey Southern Area TK1007 Spring, Limited Entry 1 1 2 

Turkey Southeast Area TK1006 Spring, Limited Entry 0 1 1 



  
 

  
 

  
      

        
      

       
       

  
 

          
   

    
 

          
    

     
    

         
      

  
 

    
 

   
 

         
     

 
 

         
 
 

         
 

    
  
      

   
  
   
   
   

 
    
    
       
    
    

 
    

   

Revised 9/4/2025 

2026 WILDLIFE BOARD/RAC SCHEDULE 
All information is subject to change and all agendas are tentative.  Please check the DWR 
website often at wildlife.utah.gov or complete agendas and meeting locations posted prior to 
meetings. Unless otherwise noted, all Wildlife Board meetings are on Thursdays at the 
Eccles Wildlife Education Center, 1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington. Board meetings 
begin at 9 a.m, unless otherwise indicated. Additional meetings may be scheduled if necessary. 
RACs meet at the locations and times listed below unless otherwise noted. Scheduling 
changes will be posted on the DWR website. Please check it often. 

CR RAC – 6 PM SER RAC – 6 PM 
Wildlife Resources Conference Room John Wesley Powell Museum 
1115 N. Main Street, Springville 1765 E. Main St., Green River 

NR RAC – 6 PM NER RAC – 6 PM 
Weber County Commission Chambers Wildlife Resources NER Office 
2380 Washington Blvd., Ogden 318 North Vernal Ave, Vernal 

SR RAC – 6 PM 
DNR Cedar City Complex 
646 N. Main St., Cedar City or 
DNR Richfield City Complex 
2031 Industrial Park Rd., Richfield 

Schedule & Tentative Agendas 

January – Board Meeting, January 8, 2026 
• Dec. 2025 RAC agenda items. 

February – No RAC or Board meetings scheduled. 

March – No RAC or Board meetings scheduled. 

April  – 

RAC meetings: 
• Big game permit numbers. 
• Antlerless permit numbers 
• CWMU rule amendments 
• CWMU management plans 
• LOA management plans 

April 14 – NR 
April 15 - CR 
April 21 – SR – Southern Utah University – Hunter Room 
April 22 - SER 
April 23 - NER 

Board meeting April 30 
• April RAC agenda items. 



 
 
 

       
    
      

 
    
    

         
     
    

 
 

      
     

   
  

 
 

           
  

 
       
       

      
       
       
 
 

        
 

    
 
   

      
    

 
       
       

     
        
       
     
     

   
   
   
   
  
  
  

 
  
 
 
 

May – RAC meetings: 
• Upland game and turkey recommendations 
• Fishing informational – online survey 

May 12 - CR 
May 13 - NR 
May 19 – SR – DNR Richfield City Complex 
May 20 - SER 
May 21 - NER    

June – WAFWA Meetings June 2-6
Board meeting Thursday, June 11 

• May RAC agenda items 
• Conservation Permit List 

July  – RAC meetings: 
• Fee proposals 

July 28 – CR 
July 29 – NR 
August 4 – SR- DNR Cedar City Complex 
August 5 – SER 
August 6 – NER  

August – Board meeting Thursday, August 20 

• July/Aug RAC agenda items 

September – RAC meetings: 
• Fishing recommendations and guidebook (contingent) 

August 25 – CR 
August 26 – NR 
September 1 – SR-DNR Richfield City Complex 
September 2 – SER 
September 3 – NER 

Board meeting September 17 
• Aug/Sept.RAC agenda items 
• 2027 meeting dates approval 
• Conservation permit Allocation 3 yr (scheduled for 2027) 
• Conservation permit annual report 
• Conservation permit audit 
• Expo Permit Allocation 
• Expo Permit Audit 



 
 
   

     
    
   
  
  

      
        

          
      

       
    

 
      

   
 

      
     
   
   
   

 
        
       

     
       
      

 
        

   

November – RAC meetings: 
• Big Game 2027 Hunt Tables and Dates 
• CWMU Management Plans 
• CWMU Rule Amendments 
• CWMU and Landowner Permit Recommendations 

November 10 – CR 
November 12 – NR – moved to Thursday to accommodate Veteran’s Day 
November 17 – SR – Southern Utah University 
November 18 – SER  
November 19 – NER 

Board meeting December 3: 
• Nov RAC agenda items 

December – RAC meetings: 
• Bear hunt tables and permit numbers 
• Cougar hunt tables and permit numbers 
• 2027 Waterfowl Recommendations 
• Falconry recommendations 

December 8 – CR 
December 9 – NR 
December 15 – SR-DNR Richfield City Complex 
December 16 – SER 
December 17 –NER 

January – Board Meeting January 7, 2027 
• Dec RAC agenda items 



  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

   

  
   

Draft 2026 RAC & BOARD MEETING TIME LINE (Revised 7/9/2025) 

RAC Meeting 
Month Agenda Item 

Rule 5 
Year 

Lapse 
Date 

Mngrs 
Mtg (TBA 

by 
program 
mngr.) 

Regional 
Recs Due to 

Program 
Coordinator 
(Mondays) -

2 wks to 
Brown Bag -

Review 
Program 

Recs with 
Director-
no later 

than 

Brown Bag 
Tuesday 

Review 
Powerpoint 

with 
Outreach 

Record 
Powerpoint 

Presentation -
post 2 week 
prior to RAC 

Final Draft 
Due to Rules 
Coord. Post 2 
weeks prior to 

RAC 

RAC Meetings Board Meeting  
(Thursdays) Comments 

December Waterfowl Recommendations 10/29 11/7 Wed. 11/12 week prior to 
brown bag 11/17 11/14 12/9-18 01/08/2026 

December Falconry Recommendations 10/29 11/7 Wed. 11/12 week prior to 
brown bag 11/17 11/14 12/9-18 01/08/2026 

December Furbearer Recommendations 10/29 11/7 Wed. 11/12 week prior to 
brown bag 11/17 11/14 12/9-18 01/08/2026 

December Bear hunt tables, permit numbers & Guidebook 10/29 11/7 Wed. 11/12 week prior to 
brown bag 11/17 11/14 12/9-18 01/08/2026 

December 

April 

Board Appeal - Brandon Jeffs @ 2 

Big Game Permit Numbers for 2026 season 

10/29 

03/10 

11/7 Wed. 11/12 week prior to 
brown bag 11/17 11/14 

03/27 

12/9-18 

04/14-23 

01/08/2026 

04/30 
1 week turn around from 

RAC's to Board to 
accommodate an additional 

week at the beginning 

03/17 03/24 week prior to 
brown bag 03/30 

April Big Game Rule Amendments 03/10 03/17 03/24 week prior to 
brown bag 03/30 03/27 04/14-23 04/30 

April Shed Antler Gathering 03/10 03/17 03/24 week prior to 
brown bag 03/30 03/27 04/14-23 04/30 

April OIAL Permit Numbers for 2026 03/10 03/17 03/24 week prior to 
brown bag 03/30 03/27 04/14-23 04/30 

April CWMU/  LOA Management Plans 03/10 03/17 03/24 week prior to 
brown bag 03/30 03/27 04/14-23 04/30 

May Fishing Informational - Online Survey 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 
brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

WAFWA June 1-5 May Cougar Recommendations and Rule Revision 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 
brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May CWMU's with public lands 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 
brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May Legislative actions 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 
brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May Wild Turkey Transplant List - 5 year rotation 
(due in 2030) 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 

brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May Upland Game and Turkey hunt tables and 
permit numbers 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 

brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May CWMU Rule Amendments 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 
brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

May Conservation Permit List - 3yr permits (Board 
Only) (3yr in 2027) 04/07 04/14 04/21 week prior to 

brown bag 04/27 04/24 05/12-21 06/11 

June No meetings 

July Proposed Fee Schedule 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 
brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 08/20 

July Expo Permit Contract 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 
brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 08/20 

July Cougar Recommendations 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 
brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 08/20 

July Big Game Drought Permits (standing) 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 
brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 08/20 



 

   
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

July CWMU Advisory Committee Rec. for CWMU's 
with public land - Board Only 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 

brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 08/20 

July LOA Committee Membership (Board Only) 6/23 06/30 07/07 week prior to 
brown bag 07/13 07/10 07/28-08/06 06/22 

August No meetings 

RAC Meeting 
Month Agenda Item 

Rule 5 
Year 

Lapse 

Mngrs Mtg 
(TBA by 
program 

Regional Recs 
Due to Program 

Coordinator 

Review 
Program Recs 
with Director- 

Brown Bag 
Tuesday 

Review 
Powerpoint with 

Outreach 

Record 
Powerpoint 

Presentation -

Final Draft 
Due to Rules 
Coord. Post 2 

RAC Meetings Board Meeting  
(Thursdays) Comments 

September Fishing Recommendations & Guidebook - 2026-
(2 yr cycle) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 

brown bag 08/04 08/12 08/26-09/04 09/17 

September Big Game Management Plans 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 
brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Conservation Permit Audit -  (Board Only) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 
brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Conservation Permit Allocation - 3yr Permits 
(Board Only) (happens in 2027) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 

brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Expo Permit Allocation (Board Only) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 
brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Expo Permits Audit (Board Only) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 
brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Conservation Permit Annual Report (Board 
Only) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 

brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

September Board Approves 2027 Meeting Dates (Board 
Only) 07/14 07/21 07/28 week prior to 

brown bag 08/05 07/31 08/25-09/03 09/17 

October No meetings 

November Big Game Hunt Tables and Dates (set until 
2028 season) 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 

brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 check wafwa dates 

November Big Game Rule 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 
brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 CR on Thursday to 

accommodate Veteran's Day 

November Statewide Mule Deer Plan 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 
brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 

November CWMU and Landowner Permit 
Recommendations 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 

brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 

November CWMU advisory committee members - board 
only - (odd years only) 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 

brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 

November LOA advisory committee members - board only 
- (odd years only) 09/29 10/06 10/13 week prior to 

brown bag 10/19 10/18 11/10-19 12/3 

December Waterfowl Recommendations 11/3 11/10 11/17 week prior to 
brown bag 11/23 11/20 12/8-17 01/07/2027 

December Falconry Recommendations 11/3 11/10 11/17 week prior to 
brown bag 11/23 11/20 12/8-17 01/07/2027 

December Furbearer Recommendations 11/3 11/10 11/17 week prior to 
brown bag 11/23 11/20 12/8-17 01/07/2027 

December Bear hunt tables, permit numbers & Guidebook 11/3 11/10 11/17 week prior to 
brown bag 11/23 11/20 12/8-17 01/07/2027 


	1 - 9 September 18 2025 Agenda
	2 - 9-18-2025 Action Log
	3 - 8-21-2025 Wildlife Board Minutes DRAFT
	4 - Summary of Motions
	5a - CR - Draft Minutes
	5b - NR - Draft Minutes
	5c - SR - Draft Minutes
	5d - SER - Draft Minutes
	5e - NER - Draft Minutes
	6 - 2025 Conservation Audit Final 932025
	7 - FY25_conservation_permit_report_revised_9-2-25 (1)
	Origins of Utah’s Conservation Permit Program
	How the program works
	Seizing opportunities
	Improving wildlife management in FY 2025
	Turkey translocations
	Neonate projects
	Pronghorn transplant
	Big game captures

	Program results in FY 2025
	Table 2. Conservation permits authorized for FY 2025

	Program oversight
	Successful wildlife conservation

	8 - 2025 EXPO AUDIT Final Draft 827
	9 - Expo Permits Memo
	9a - 2026 Proposed Expo Permits
	10 - 2026 RAC_Board Meeting Dates



